THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any
doubt about the contents of this document or as to the action you should take, you should consult an independent
professional adviser authorised under FSMA who specialises in advising on the acquisition of shares and other securities.
This document constitutes an AIM admission document relating to Global Energy Development plc and has been
drawn up in accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies. This document does not contain an offer of
transferable securities to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of section 102B of FSMA and is not
required to be issued as a prospectus pursuant to section 85 of FSMA. Accordingly, this document has not been
drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Rules and has not been approved by, or filed with, the FCA or any
other authority which would be a competent authority for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive.
If you have sold or transferred your Ordinary Shares you should send this document at once to the purchaser or
transferee or the stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the
purchaser or transferee.
AIM is a market designed primarily for emerging or smaller companies to which a higher investment risk tends to be
attached than to larger or more established companies. AIM securities are not admitted to the Official List of the
United Kingdom Listing Authority. A prospective investor should be aware of the risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after careful consideration and, if appropriate, consultation with an
independent financial adviser. Each AIM company is required pursuant to the AIM Rules for Companies to have a
nominated adviser. The nominated adviser is required to make a declaration to the London Stock Exchange on
admission in the form set out in Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers. The London Stock Exchange
has not itself examined or approved the contents of this document.
Application has been made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on AIM. It is expected that
Admission will become effective and that dealings in the Ordinary Shares will commence on AIM at 8.00 a.m. on
9 February 2017. The Ordinary Shares are not dealt in on any other recognised investment exchange and no
application has been, or is intended to be, made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on any other
such exchange. It is emphasised that no application is being made for the admission of the Ordinary Shares to the
Official List.
The Directors, whose names appear on page 12 of this document, and the Company accept responsibility, both
individually and collectively, for the information contained in this document and for compliance with the AIM
Rules for Companies. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors and the Company (having taken all
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this document is in accordance with
the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.
Prospective investors should read the whole text of this document and should be aware that an investment in the
Company involves a high degree of risk. In particular, the attention of prospective investors is drawn to Part II of this
document which sets out certain risk factors relating to any investment in Ordinary Shares. All statements regarding the
Enlarged Group’s business, financial position and prospects should be viewed in light of these risk factors.

Global Energy Development plc
(incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered no. 4330608)

Proposed acquisition of offshore subsea service vessel-owning companies
Proposed change of name to Nautilus Marine Services PLC
Admission of the Issued Share Capital to trading on AIM
and

Notice of General Meeting
Nominated Adviser & Broker

Notice of the General Meeting of the Company to be held at its registered office at 3 More London Riverside,
London SE1 2AQ at 9.00 a.m. (GMT) on Wednesday 8 February 2017 is set out on pages 67 to 69 (inclusive) of
this document. The accompanying Form of Proxy for use at the General Meeting should be completed and returned
to the Company’s registrar, Capita Asset Services, PXS, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3
4TU as soon as possible, and to be valid must arrive by no later than 9.00 a.m. (GMT) on Monday 6 February
2017.
This document does not constitute an offer of, or the solicitation of an offer to buy or subscribe for, Ordinary
Shares to any person to whom, or in any jurisdiction in which, such offer or solicitation is unlawful and is not for
distribution in or into the United States, Australia, Canada or Japan. The Ordinary Shares have not been, and will
not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the ‘‘Securities Act’’) or qualified for
sale under the laws of any state of the United States or under any applicable securities laws of Australia, Canada or
Japan. Subject to certain exceptions, the Ordinary Shares may not be offered for sale or subscription, or sold or
subscribed, directly or indirectly, within the United States, Australia, Canada or Japan or to, or for the account or

benefit of, any US persons (as such term is defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) or any national,
resident or citizen of Australia, Canada or Japan.
finnCap Ltd, which is authorised and regulated in the United Kingdom by the FCA, is acting as nominated adviser and
broker to the Company in connection with the Admission. Its responsibilities as the Company’s nominated adviser under
the AIM Rules are owed solely to the London Stock Exchange and are not owed to the Company or to any Director
or to any other person in respect of his decision to acquire shares in the Company in reliance on any part of this
document. finnCap Ltd is acting exclusively for the Company and for no one else in connection with the Admission.
finnCap Ltd will not regard any other person (whether or not a recipient of this document) as its customer in relation to
the Admission and will not be responsible to any other person for providing the protections afforded to customers of
finnCap Ltd or for providing advice in relation to the Admission or any transaction or arrangement referred to in this
document.
The distribution of this document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. No action has been taken or will
be taken by the Company, the Directors or finnCap Ltd to permit a public offer of Ordinary Shares or to permit
the possession or distribution of this document in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose may be required.
This document may not be distributed in any jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result in compliance
with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this document comes are required by the
Company, the Directors and finnCap Ltd to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. Failure
to comply with any such restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of the relevant jurisdiction.
Prospective investors should rely only on the information contained in this document. No person has been
authorised to give any information or make any representations other than as contained in this document and, if
given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the
Company, the Directors or finnCap Ltd. Without prejudice to the Company’s obligations under the AIM Rules,
neither the delivery of this document nor any subscription made under this document shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the business or affairs of the Company or of
the Group since the date of this document or that the information contained in this document is correct as of any
time subsequent to the date of this document. finnCap Ltd has not authorised the contents of this document and,
without limiting the statutory rights of any person to whom this document is issued, no representation or warranty,
express or implied, is made by finnCap Ltd as to the contents of this document and no responsibility or liability
whatsoever is accepted by finnCap Ltd for the accuracy of any information or opinions contained in this document
or for the omission of any material information from this document, for which the Company and the Directors are
solely responsible.
The contents of this document are not to be construed as legal, business or tax advice. Prospective investors should
consult their own professional advisers for legal, financial or tax advice in relation to an investment or proposed
investment in Ordinary Shares.
Copies of this document will be available free of charge to the public during normal business hours on any day
(except Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) from the date of this document until the date which is one month
after the date of Admission at the offices of the Company and from the Company’s website
(www.globalenergyplc.com).
Forward-looking statements
This document contains statements that are, or may be deemed to be, ‘‘forward-looking statements’’. In some cases,
these forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms
‘‘anticipates’’, ‘‘believes’’, ‘‘could’’, ‘‘envisages’’, ‘‘estimates’’, ‘‘expects’’, ‘‘intends’’, ‘‘may’’, ‘‘plans’’, ‘‘projects’’,
‘‘should’’, ‘‘will’’ or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. These forwardlooking statements relate to matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this
document and include statements regarding the intentions, beliefs and current expectations of the Company or the
Directors concerning, amongst other things, the results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth
and strategies of the Company and the industry in which the Group operates.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend
on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future
performance. The actual results, performance or achievements of the Company or developments in the industry in
which the Group operates may differ materially from the future results, performance or achievements or industry
developments expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this document.
Prospective investors are strongly recommended to read the risk factors set out in Part II of this document for a
more complete discussion of the factors that could affect the Company’s future performance and the industry in
which the Group operates. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the events described in the forwardlooking statements in this document may not occur.
The forward-looking statements contained in this document speak only as at the date of this document. The
Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise publicly the forward-looking statements contained in this
document to reflect any change in expectations or to reflect events or circumstances occurring or arising after the
date of this document, except as required in order to comply with its legal and regulatory obligations (including
under the AIM Rules).
No profit forecast
No statement in this document or incorporated by reference into this document is intended to constitute a profit
forecast or profit estimate for any period, nor should any statement be interpreted to mean that earnings or earnings
per share will necessarily be greater or lesser than those for the relevant preceding financial periods for the
Company.

2

CONTENTS
Admission statistics

4

Expected timetable of principal events

4

Directors, secretary and advisers

5

Definitions

6

Glossary of technical terms

10

Part I – Letter from the Chairman

12

Part II – Risk Factors

32

Part III – Financial information on the Group

40

Part IV – Pro forma statement of net assets

41

Part V – Additional information

44

Part VI – Notice of General Meeting

67

3

ADMISSION STATISTICS
Issued Share Capital

36,112,187

Number of Ordinary Shares on Admission

36,112,187

ISIN on Admission

GB0031461949

SEDOL on Admission

3146194

Existing TIDM

GED

TIDM on Admission

NAUT

Maximum number of new Ordinary Shares which could be issued on
full conversion of the Convertible Loan Notes*
*

32,970,628

The maximum number of new Ordinary Shares which could be issued on full conversion of the Convertible Loan Notes has for this
purpose been calculated assuming conversion at the Applicable Conversion Prices for each class on the respective maturity dates with
accrued interest in respect of Convertible B Loan Notes and Convertible C Loan Notes being satisfied by the issue of Ordinary Shares
and with no adjustment to the conversion terms.

EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS**
2017
Date of publication of this document

16 January

Latest time and date for receipt of CREST voting instructions

9.00 a.m. on 6 February

Latest time and date for receipt of Forms of Proxy

9.00 a.m. on 6 February

General Meeting

8 February

Admission and re-commencement of dealings in the Ordinary Shares

8.00 a.m. on 9 February

** Each of these times and dates above is subject to change and the timing for completion of the transactions is dependent on the timing
for the conditions being satisfied. Any such change will be notified by an announcement on a Regulatory Information Service. All
references to time in this table are to Greenwich Mean Time (GMT).
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DEFINITIONS
The following definitions apply throughout this document, unless the context otherwise requires:
‘‘Admission’’

re-admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM becoming
effective in accordance with the AIM Rules

‘‘AIM’’

the market of that name operated by the London Stock Exchange

‘‘AIM Rules for Companies’’ or
‘‘AIM Rules’’

the rules for companies whose securities are admitted to trading on
AIM, as published by the London Stock Exchange from time to
time

‘‘AIM Rules for Nominated
Advisers’’

the rules setting out the eligibility requirements, ongoing
obligations and certain disciplinary matters in relation to
nominated advisers, as published by the London Stock Exchange
from time to time

‘‘Articles of Association’’ or
‘‘Articles’’

the articles of association of the Company

‘‘Board’’

the board of directors of the Company

‘‘Caleura’’

Caleura Limited, a limited partnership organised and existing
under the law of Liechtenstein

‘‘certificated’’ or ‘‘in certificated
form’’

in relation to an Ordinary Share, recorded on the Company’s
register as being held in certificated form (that is not in CREST)

‘‘Companies Act’’

the Companies Act 2006, as amended

‘‘Company’’ or ‘‘Global’’

Global Energy Development plc, a company incorporated in
England and Wales with registered number 4330608 and where
the context so requires that company and/or any of its subsidiaries

‘‘Concert Party’’

together, HKN, Everest, Lyford, Mikel Faulkner, Evansville and,
should it come to hold Ordinary Shares, McLarty

‘‘Conversion Shares’’

new Ordinary Shares to be issued and credited as fully paid on
conversion of the Convertible Loan Notes or in settlement of
accrued interest

‘‘Convertible Loan Notes’’

together, Convertible A Loan Notes, Convertible B Loan Notes
and Convertible C Loan Notes

‘‘Convertible A Loan Notes’’

the Convertible Unsecured A Loan Notes due January 2027, with
an aggregate nominal amount of $10.5 million when fully issued

‘‘Convertible B Loan Notes’’

the Convertible Unsecured B Loan Notes due January 2029, with
an aggregate nominal amount of $6.1 million when fully issued

‘‘Convertible C Loan Notes’’

the Convertible Unsecured C Loan Notes due January 2032, with
an aggregate nominal amount of $15.0 million when fully issued

‘‘Corporate Governance Code’’

the UK Corporate Governance Code on principles of good
corporate governance and code of best practice published by the
Financial Reporting Council in April 2016 (where applicable as
amended from time to time) as in force from time to time

‘‘CREST’’

the system for the paperless settlement of trades in securities and
the holding of uncertificated securities operated by Euroclear in
accordance with the CREST Regulations

‘‘CREST Regulations’’ or
‘‘Regulations’’

the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001 No. 3755),
as amended from time to time

‘‘DeepCor’’ or ‘‘DCM’’

DeepCor Marine Inc. a company incorporated in Delaware, United
States

‘‘Directors’’

the directors of the Company whose names are set out on page 12
of this document

‘‘Disclosure and Transparency
Rules’’

the disclosure guidance and transparency rules made by the FCA
under Part 6 of FSMA
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‘‘Enlarged Group’’

the Group as at the date hereof as enlarged as a result of
completion of either or both of Transaction A and Transaction B

‘‘Euroclear’’

Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited, the operator of CREST

‘‘Evansville’’

Evansville Limited a member of the Concert Party and a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands whose registered office is
at Tropic Isle Building, Road Town, Tortola D8, British Virgin
Islands, VG 1110

‘‘Everest’’

Everest Hill Group Inc., a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands whose registered office is at Tropic Isle Building,
Road Town, Tortola D8, British Virgin Islands, VG 1110

‘‘Everest Loan Note’’

the existing loan note currently with a principal amount of
$12 million held by the Company and in respect of which Everest
is the sole obligor, details of which can be found in paragraph 12 of
Part V of this document

‘‘Everest Loan Note Amendment
Deed’’

the deed to be entered into by the Company, Everest and others to
amend the terms of the Everest Loan Note upon completion of
Transaction A, further information on which can be found in
paragraph 12 of Part V of this document

‘‘Everest Vessel Holdings’’

Everest Vessel Holdings LLC, a limited liability corporation
organised and existing under the law of Delaware, United States,
the principal place of business of which is at 320 Park Avenue, New
York, NY 10022

‘‘FCA’’

the UK Financial Conduct Authority

‘‘finnCap’’

finnCap Ltd, nominated adviser and broker to the Company

‘‘Form of Proxy’’

the form of proxy accompanying this document for use in
connection with the General Meeting

‘‘FSMA’’

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended

‘‘General Meeting’’

the general meeting of the Company to be held at the Company’s
registered offices at 3 More London Riverside, London SE1 2AQ at
9:00 a.m. (GMT) on Wednesday 8 February 2017, notice of which
is set out at the end of this document

‘‘Group’’

the Company and its subsidiaries (as defined in the Companies Act)

‘‘HKN’’

HKN Inc. a member of the Concert Party and a company
incorporated in Delaware, United States, with registered number
95-2841597 whose registered office is at 180 State Street, Ste. 200
Southlake, TX 76092 USA

‘‘HMRC’’

Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs

‘‘Independent Directors’’

Alan Henderson, David Quint and Zac Phillips

‘‘ISIN’’

International Securities Identification Number

‘‘Issued Share Capital’’

the 36,112,187 Ordinary Shares that are in issue at the date of this
document and that are to be re-admitted to trading on AIM

‘‘Kennedy Marr’’

Kennedy Marr Limited, a global maritime firm, a company
incorporated in England and Wales with registered number
1466012. Kennedy Marr is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Shipbrokers and the International Marine Contractors
Association

‘‘London Stock Exchange’’

London Stock Exchange plc

‘‘Long Stop Date’’

31 March 2017 or such later date as the parties may agree

‘‘Lyford’’

Lyford Investment Enterprises Ltd, a member of the Concert Party
and a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
registered number 498533 whose registered office is at Tropic Isle
Building, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands, VG 1110
7

‘‘Market Abuse Regulation’’ or
‘‘MAR’’

the EU Market Abuse Regulation (2014/596/EU) and associated
delegated acts, implementing acts, technical standards and
guidelines

‘‘Maritime Finance’’

Maritime Finance, LLC which is to be acquired pursuant to
Transaction B having become the owner of the Transaction B
Assets

‘‘McLarty’’ or ‘‘MCP’’

McLarty Capital Partners SBIC, L.P., a limited partnership
organised and existing under the laws of Delaware, United
States, the principal place of business of which is at One
Rockefeller Plaza, Suite 1203, New York, NY 10020

‘‘Notice’’

the notice convening the General Meeting which is set out at the
end of this document

‘‘Official List’’

the Official List of the UK Listing Authority

‘‘Ordinary Shares’’

ordinary shares of 1 penny each in the capital of the Company

‘‘Proposals’’

together, the Transactions, Admission, the obtaining of certain
share issue authorities and the change of the Company’s name to
Nautilus Marine Services PLC

‘‘Prospectus Directive’’

EU Prospectus Directive 2003/71/EC including any relevant
measure in each member state of the European Economic Area
that has implemented Directive 2003/71/EC

‘‘Prospectus Rules’’

the prospectus rules made by the FCA under Part 6 of FSMA

‘‘Resolution’’

the resolution to be proposed at the General Meeting

‘‘Rider Barge’’

a barge vessel owned by Everest Vessel Holdings; information on
the barge is set out in paragraph 4 of Part I of this document

‘‘Shareholders’’

holders of Ordinary Shares

‘‘Share Option Scheme’’

the Global Energy Development PLC Employee Share Option
Scheme, details of which are set out in paragraph 7 of Part V of this
document

‘‘shares’’

includes shares, membership interests and other equivalent
securities

‘‘Takeover Code’’ or ‘‘City Code’’

the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers

‘‘Takeover Panel’’

the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers

‘‘TIDM’’

trading instrument display mnemonic

‘‘Transaction A’’

the Company’s proposed acquisition of the Transaction A Vessels
through the acquisition of the shares of vessel-owning companies
pursuant to the terms of the Transaction A Agreement

‘‘Transaction A Agreement’’

the conditional agreement, dated 16 January 2017 between the
Company and Everest relating to Transaction A, details of which
are set out in paragraph 11 of Part V of this document

‘‘Transaction A Vessels’’

certain offshore subsea vessels owned by special purpose
subsidiaries of Everest; details of the vessels are set out in
paragraph 3 of Part I of this document

‘‘Transaction Agreements’’

the Transaction A Agreement and the Transaction B Agreement

‘‘Transaction B’’

the Company’s proposed acquisition of the Rider Barge through
the acquisition of the shares of Everest Vessel Holdings, and of the
Transaction B Vessels and Transaction B Assets through the
acquisition of the shares of Maritime Finance

‘‘Transaction B Agreement’’

the conditional agreement, dated 16 January 2017 between the
Company, Everest, Alan Quasha, MCP and Caleura relating to
Transaction B, details of which are set out in paragraph 11 of Part
V of this document
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‘‘Transaction B Assets’’

the Transaction B Vessels and additional equipment the subject of
Transaction B

‘‘Transaction B Vessels’’

the subsea service vessels (other than the Rider Barge) which are to
be acquired pursuant to Transaction B; details of the vessels are set
out in paragraph 4 of Part I of this document

‘‘Transactions’’

together, Transaction A and Transaction B

‘‘UK Listing Authority’’

the FCA acting in its capacity as the competent authority for the
purposes of Part 6 of FSMA

‘‘uncertificated’’ or ‘‘in
uncertificated form’’

in relation to an Ordinary Share, recorded on the Company’s
register as being held in uncertificated form in CREST and title to
which may be transferred by means of CREST

‘‘United Kingdom’’ or ‘‘UK’’

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

‘‘VAT’’

value added tax

‘‘$’’ or ‘‘dollars’’

US dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

‘‘£’’ or ‘‘sterling’’

UK pounds sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
‘‘2P Reserves’’

proved plus probable reserves;

‘‘3P Reserves’’

proved plus probable plus possible reserves;

‘‘air diving’’

commercial diving undertaken in shallow water without the need
for a combination of breathing gases;

‘‘compressed air diving’’

diving undertaken with the support of breathing gas using a diver’s
umbilical from the surface, usually from a diving support vessel.
Divers are normally required to be decompressed in a
decompression chamber at the end of a dive;

‘‘condensate’’

light hydrocarbon compounds that condense into liquid at surface
temperatures and pressures;

‘‘decompression chamber’’

a pressurised chamber that provides a high pressure environment
allowing divers to recover from, or reduce the potential of,
decompression sickness due to gas build-up in their bodies as a
result of compressed air diving at surface. The chamber is designed
to safely eliminate absorbed inert gasses from the divers’ body
tissues to avoid decompression sickness;

‘‘DSV’’

diving support vessel. A ship used as a floating base for commercial
diving operations;

‘‘dry docking’’

a narrow basin on land that can be flooded to allow a vessel to be
floated in and then drained to allow that vessel to come to rest on a
dry platform so that the bottom of the vessel can be readily
accessed;

‘‘dynamic position’’ or
‘‘DP system’’

a computer controlled system that automatically controls a vessel’s
position and heading by using its own propellers and thrusters;

‘‘hydrocarbon’’

a compound containing only the elements of hydrogen and carbon.
May exist as a solid, a liquid or a gas. The term is mainly used in a
catch-all sense for oil, gas and condensate;

‘‘laid-up status’’

in relation to a vessel, one which is temporarily idle due to lack of
work and is kept at the dock so as to maintain the condition of the
vessel and its equipment without a full crew;

‘‘live-boat diving’’

the maintenance of mobility in a vessel in support of diving
operations;

‘‘mmbbl’’

millions of barrels of oil;

‘‘moonpool’’

an opening through the deck and base of the hull giving direct
access to the water below;

‘‘moonpool launch’’

the placing of an object or equipment into the water through a
moonpool;

‘‘non-propelled barge’’

a flat bottomed vessel which cannot propel itself and so must be
towed or pushed;

‘‘oil’’

a mixture of liquid hydrocarbons of different molecular weight;

‘‘possible reserves’’

reserves which, based on the available evidence and taking into
account technical and economic factors, have at least a 10 per cent.
chance of being produced;

‘‘PRMS’’

the Petroleum Resources Management System as published by the
Oil and Gas Reserves Committee of the Society of Petroleum
Engineers;

‘‘probable reserves’’

reserves which, based on the available evidence and taking into
account technical and economic factors, have at least a 50 per cent.
chance of being produced;
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‘‘proved reserves’’

reserves which, based on the available evidence and taking into
account technical and economic factors, have at least a 90 per cent.
chance of being produced;

‘‘remotely operated vehicle’’ or
‘‘ROV’’

an unmanned, underwater mobile device that is tethered to and
operated by crew on board a support vessel;

‘‘reserves’’

those quantities of petroleum anticipated to be commercially
recoverable by application of development projects to known
accumulations from a given date forward under defined conditions;

‘‘ROVSV’’

the support vessel to which an ROV is tethered and from which it is
operated;

‘‘saturation diving system’’

a system, including decompression chambers, that allows divers to
live in a pressurised environment, enabling them to work at great
depths for extended periods of time and reduces the risk of
decompression sickness;

‘‘working interest’’

a percentage ownership of a concession granting its owner the right
to explore, drill and produce oil and gas from a tract of property.
Working interest owners are obligated to pay a corresponding
percentage of the cost of leasing, drilling, producing and operating
that area.
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PART I
LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF

GLOBAL ENERGY DEVELOPMENT PLC
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 4330608)

Directors:
Mikel Faulkner
Alan Henderson
David Quint
Zac Phillips

Registered Office:
3 More London
Riverside
London
SE1 2AQ

(Chairman)
(Non-Executive Director)
(Non-Executive Director)
(Non-Executive Director)

16 January 2017
Dear Shareholder,

Proposed acquisition of offshore subsea service vessel-owning companies
Proposed change of name to Nautilus Marine Services PLC
Admission of the Issued Share Capital to trading on AIM
and

Notice of General Meeting
1.
INTRODUCTION
The Company has today announced that it has conditionally agreed to purchase three offshore subsea
service vessels through the acquisition of vessel-owning companies from Everest (‘‘Transaction A’’).
The Company has also announced that it has conditionally agreed to purchase a barge vessel through
the acquisition of Everest Vessel Holdings from Alan Quasha and to purchase eight offshore subsea
service vessels and subsea equipment through the acquisition of a vessel-owning company, Maritime
Finance, owned by McLarty Capital Partners and Caleura Limited (‘‘Transaction B’’). Following
completion of either Transaction A or Transaction B the Company’s principal activity will be the
operation of subsea service vessels and the provision of subsea oil services.
Transaction A:
Global has conditionally agreed to acquire three offshore subsea service vessels through the
acquisition of shares of vessel-owning companies from Everest in exchange for: (i) forgiveness of
$8 million of the outstanding principal amount of the Everest Loan Note; (ii) the amendment of the
terms of the Everest Loan Note to reduce the interest rate from 12 per cent. to 8 per cent. and to
extend the maturity date from 15 January 2017 to 15 September 2018 (the Company has granted
forebearance in respect of any payment default in the interim); and (iii) contingent additional
consideration equal to the lower of $5 million and 75 per cent. of the net cash inflows attributable to
the Transaction A Vessels for the period of eighteen months following completion of their acquisition
by the Company. Part of the existing collateral under the Everest Loan Note, comprising Everest’s
and its affiliates’ shareholdings in HKN, which is a substantial shareholder in the Company, will
remain in place. Further information on the Transaction A Agreement is set out in paragraph 11 of
Part V of this document.
At the time the Everest Loan Note was entered into, Global was a co-lender to Everest alongside
HKN whereby Global initially lent $8 million and HKN lent $2 million. As announced on 1 March
2016, Global loaned an additional $2 million to Everest. As announced on 31 October 2016, Global
purchased the $2 million principal amount held by HKN at that date at its face value resulting in
Global being the sole holder of the Everest Loan Note since that date. Further information on the
Everest Loan Note is set out in paragraph 12 of Part V of this document.
Transaction B:
Global has conditionally agreed to acquire eight offshore subsea service vessels (the ‘‘Transaction B
Vessels’’), certain equipment and a barge vessel (the ‘‘Rider Barge’’) through the transfer of shares of
vessel-owning companies in exchange for Global issuing Convertible B Loan Notes and Convertible C
Loan Notes. In addition, and as part of Transaction B, MCP, Caleura and Everest have conditionally
undertaken to subscribe in cash at their nominal amount for, in aggregate, $10.5 million of
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Convertible A Loan Notes to be issued by the Company. Further details of Transaction B and the
Convertible Loan Notes are set out below in paragraph 4 of this letter.
Change of Name
The Directors are proposing that the Company’s name be changed to ‘‘Nautilus Marine Services
PLC’’ to reflect the proposed change in the Company’s principal business. This will be implemented
by the passing of the Resolution.
Conditionality and Admission
Each of the Transactions constitutes a reverse takeover pursuant to Rule 14 of the AIM Rules and
accordingly they require Shareholder approval, which is also required for the issue of the Convertible
Loan Notes. Implementation of the Proposals is conditional, inter alia, upon the passing of the
Resolution at the General Meeting to be held at the registered office of the Company at 3 More
London Riverside, London SE1 2AQ at 9.00 a.m. on Wednesday, 8 February 2017. Although the
Transactions are subject to approval by way of a single Resolution, they are subject to some different
conditions and they are not inter-conditional. It is possible that they could complete at different times
or that one completes and the other does not. It is however currently anticipated that by the time of
the General Meeting, the only outstanding conditions for completion of both Transactions will be the
passing of the Resolution and Admission. It is therefore anticipated that the Transactions will both
complete on 9 February 2017 and that Admission will become effective and that dealings in the
Ordinary Shares on AIM will recommence at 8.00 a.m. on the same day.
No new Ordinary Shares are being issued at the time of completion of either Transaction, but new
Ordinary Shares would be issued on conversion of any of the Convertible Loan Notes and potentially
settlement of accrued interest.
This document contains detailed information about the Transaction A Vessels, the Transaction B
Vessels and the terms of Transaction A and Transaction B and explains why the Board consider the
Proposals to be in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole and
recommends that you vote in favour of the Resolution to be proposed at the General Meeting, notice
of which is set out at the end of this document.
2.
BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON GLOBAL
History and Development of the Group
Global has been listed on AIM since March 2002 and since its incorporation has been a producer
and seller of hydrocarbons. The Company’s portfolio includes exploration and developmental drilling
opportunities in Colombia, South America. The Company currently holds two contracts: the Bolivar
and Bocachico Association Contracts, both in the Middle Magdalena Valley of Colombia. Global
holds a 100 per cent. working interest in the Bolivar and Bocachico Association Contracts held in
Colombia and both are subject to royalties payable on production of 20 per cent. Revenue from
continuing operations currently relates solely to oil production from the Company’s Torcaz #2 well
located in the Bocachico Association Contract area.
On 5 December 2014 the Company disposed of its major asset, Global’s contract areas within the
Llanos Basin (the ‘‘Llanos Assets’’) in Colombia, for $50 million through the sale of the entire issued
share capital of the Company’s relevant wholly owned subsidiary. The disposal of the Llanos Assets
left Global with only its operations associated with its Bolivar and Bocachico Association Contract
areas and allowed the Company to eliminate its outstanding debt. Since the disposal, the Company
has remained debt-free and has actively been pursuing energy-based strategic opportunities to realise
value for its shareholders.
The Group’s Current Businesses and Activities
As described above, the Company’s portfolio comprises a base of exploration and developmental
drilling opportunities in its Bolivar and Bocachico Association Contract areas within Colombia, South
America.
The reserve estimates shown below were developed by a professional engineer licenced in the State of
Texas employed by Ralph E. Davis Associates, Inc. (‘‘RED’’) (of 711 Louisiana Street, Suite 3100
Houston, Texas 77002), an independent petroleum engineering firm, and are based on the PRMS joint
reserve and resource definitions of the Society of Petroleum Engineers, the World Petroleum Council,
the American Association of Petroleum Geologists and the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers
consistent with UK reporting purposes. Proved and probable reserve estimates are based on a number
of underlying assumptions including oil prices, future costs, oil in place and reservoir performance,
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which are inherently uncertain. RED uses established industry techniques to generate its estimates.
However, the amount of reserves that will ultimately be recovered from any field cannot be known
with certainty until the end of the field’s life.
The table below presents the Company’s reserve information for its Colombian Association Contracts
as at 31 December 2015:

Contract Name

Country

Basin

(A) Bolivar

Colombia

(B) Bocachico

Colombia

Middle
Empresa
Magdalena Colombiana de
Petroleos
(‘‘Ecopetrol’’)
Middle
Ecopetrol
Magdalena

Held with:

3P
2P
Proved
Initial
Royalty Reserves Reserves Reserves
(%) (mmbbls) (mmbbls) (mmbbls)

Expiry
Date

Acreage

2024

21,000

20

0

0

0

2022

54,700

20

0

0

0

The Company has a strong cash balance, a streamlined overhead structure and no mandatory
contract or debt obligations which are significant advantages in the current oil price environment.
While preserving Global’s acreage in Colombia (but not undertaking any development work) until oil
prices recover further, the Company has been actively vetting acquisition prospects in both the
petroleum exploration and production sector as well as the oilfield services sector. Global has not
limited itself to looking at traditional petroleum exploration and production plays and has expanded
its geographical research to cover potential opportunities outside of the current South America focus.
During the first half of 2016, Global reorganised personnel and work functions to both streamline its
functions as well as strategically position the Company to take advantage of opportunities which
become available to it.
The Directors believe that the sustained low oil pricing has created enhanced buying opportunities
stemming from highly-leveraged companies that are challenged by this current downturn. Global
continues to have financial strength with a strong cash position and a debt-free balance sheet and
believes that multiple sectors within the energy industry provide excellent ‘‘buy low’’, ‘‘hold’’ and ‘‘sell
high’’ scenarios.
The Company has identified the Transactions, two opportunities in the Gulf of Mexico, as an initial
entry into the global offshore subsea sector to take advantage of distressed market conditions through
counter-cyclical investment, consolidation and technology opportunities with, the Directors believe, the
potential to realise increased value for Shareholders. Accordingly, following completion of the
Transactions, Global’s focus will be on the subsea services industry and the Colombian acreage will
be of only marginal importance. No cash is payable by the Company at Admission pursuant to the
Transactions and the Company will continue to look for additional investment opportunities in the
subsea services sector.
Summary Financials of Global Energy Development plc

Revenue
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing
operations
Total assets
Net assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6 months
ended
30 June
2016
$’000
84
(2,329)
32,706
29,703
21,012

Year ended
31 December
2015
$’000
365
(26,725)
35,459
32,253
25,608

Year ended
31 December
2014
$’000
689
(17,275)
65,220
55,800
41,153

Year ended
31 December
2013
$’000
33,612
3,411
123,319
80,890
3,415

The information in respect of the 6 months ended 30 June 2016 above is extracted from Global’s
interim accounts ended the same date and is unaudited.
3.
TRANSACTION A
The Company has identified three offshore subsea service vessels belonging to Everest which are
based in the Gulf of Mexico, namely Mystic Viking, Midnight Star and Cal Diver 1. Everest has
agreed to sell these vessels (‘‘Transaction A Vessels’’) free from encumbrances and liens through the
transfer of all of the shares of the vessel-owning companies which hold no other assets or liabilities
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other than the Transaction A Vessels, with full indemnification from Everest. The Transaction A
Vessels are currently in laid up status and can be placed in service in mid to shallow waters following
dry docking and improvement works. Global will assess current and future market conditions along
with costs of improvement works, expected return on investment and related timing for dry dock
improvements to these vessels in order to determine the proper time to put the Transaction A Vessels
back into service to operate profitably.
Transaction A Vessels
Mystic Viking
Built in 1983, the Mystic Viking is an offshore supply vessel, fitted with a SIMRAD Dynamic
Positioning System (‘‘DP’’) and is currently set up to support Remotely Operated Vehicle (‘‘ROV’’)
programmes in the Gulf of Mexico. The Mystic Viking is equipped with a 50 ton Hydralift crane, a
helideck suitable for a Bell 212 helicopter and has accommodations of up to 57 berths. The vessel is
currently flagged in the Bahamas and the port of registry is Nassau, Bahamas.
The Mystic Viking is currently held in a newly-created affiliated entity of Everest, NMS Viking Inc.
(incorporated and registered in the Marshall Islands) and has been delivered by Everest to a location
in Louisiana, USA as designated by Global.

Midnight Star
Built in 1975 and refurbished in 2011, the Midnight Star is fitted out as a diving support vessel
featuring a six-man saturation diving system depth rated up to 300 meters (1,000 feet). The Midnight
Star is equipped with a 31 ton EBI crane, has a four-point mooring system for diving operations and
has accommodations of up to 42 berths. The vessel is currently flagged in Vanuatu and the port of
registry is Port Villa, Vanuatu.
The Midnight Star is currently held in a newly-created affiliated entity of Everest, NMS Star Inc.
(incorporated and registered in the Marshall Islands) and has been delivered by Everest to a location
in Louisiana, USA as designated by Global.
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Cal Diver 1
Built in 1974 and refurbished in 2013, the Cal Diver 1 is a four-point diving support vessel and is
currently flagged in the United States and registered in New Orleans, Louisiana, USA. Cal Diver 1
has been in an extended period of cold lay up and would require more extensive work and
investment than the Mystic Viking and Midnight Star to return to service.
The Cal Diver 1 is currently held in a newly-created affiliated entity of Everest, NMS CD1 Inc.
(incorporated and registered in the Marshall Islands) and will be delivered by Everest to a location in
Louisiana, USA as designated by Global.

Valuation and transaction terms
The fair market value of each of the Transaction A Vessels has been appraised by Kennedy Marr, a
global maritime firm headquartered in the U.K.
The Company, utilising the fair market value appraisals received from Kennedy Marr, has agreed a
consideration of $8 million for the Transaction A Vessels which will be satisfied by forgiveness of
$8 million of the outstanding principal amount of the Everest Loan Note and modification of its
terms (as described below). In addition, there is a future contingent consideration payment to be
calculated as the lower of $5 million or 75 per cent. of the net cash inflows (as defined in the
Transaction A Agreement) associated with the Transaction A Vessels for the period of eighteen
months following completion of Transaction A. Any such contingent consideration will be satisfied
with up to $4 million offset against the remaining Everest Loan Note balance with any remaining
balance of the contingent consideration to be payable in cash or as the parties may otherwise agree.
Everest Loan Note
As previously announced, Global holds a loan note with Everest for $12 million which is payable in
full on 15 January 2017. The Company has granted forebearance in respect of any non-payment
default pending completion or termination of the Transaction A Agreement to allow Transaction A
to proceed. If the Transaction A Agreement terminates without Transaction A completing, the
Everest Loan Note will be immediately repayable. The Everest Loan Note currently has an interest
rate of 12 per cent. and is collateralised by Everest and its affiliates’ shareholdings in HKN, which is
a substantial shareholder in the Company, and security over the Rider Barge and the Transaction A
Vessels.
Upon completion of Transaction A, the Company will amend the terms of the Everest Loan Note (of
which $4 million of principal will remain outstanding following settlement of the Transaction A
consideration). The new terms of the Everest Loan Note will include a reduced interest charge of
8 per cent. per annum, payable quarterly in arrears, an extended maturity date of 15 September 2018
(subject to acceleration) to be implemented by entry into the Everest Loan Note Amendment Deed
with the existing collateral over the shares in HKN remaining in place and securing the obligations of
Everest to Global.
Global’s Future Plans for the Transaction A Vessels
Following completion of Transaction A, Global will hold the Transaction A Vessels at its Berwick
dock facility in Louisiana, USA with access to the Gulf of Mexico (see below). Global will assess
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current and future market conditions along with any costs, expected return on investment and related
timing for dry dock improvements to these vessels in order to determine the most appropriate work
to be undertaken on each Transaction A Vessel and the timing to put it back into service to operate
profitably.
By the time of completion of each of the Transactions, all of the Transaction A Vessels or
Transaction B Vessels (as applicable) must have been delivered to the Berwick dock facility.
4.
TRANSACTION B
The Company identified certain offshore subsea service vessels (the Transaction B Vessels), a barge
vessel (the Rider Barge) and certain equipment located in Louisiana, USA which had been used to
provide offshore services in the Gulf of Mexico.
The Directors believe that Transaction B complements Transaction A as an initial entry into the Gulf
of Mexico offshore subsea services sector pursuant to the Company’s new global strategy to take
advantage of distressed market conditions through counter-cyclical investment, consolidation and
technology opportunities with the potential to realise increased value for Shareholders.
The Transaction B Assets (comprising the Transaction B Vessels and equipment) will be acquired by
the acquisition of the recently-incorporated Maritime Finance from MCP and Caleura after it has
acquired the Transaction B Assets from DCM pursuant to foreclosure proceedings which have been
initiated as described below.
MCP and Caleura have conditionally agreed:
(i)

to subscribe at their nominal amount for Convertible A Loan Notes with an aggregate nominal
amount of up to $10.0 million in cash; and

(ii)

to transfer to Global all of the issued and outstanding interests in the vessel-owning company
(Maritime Finance) (which will prior to completion of Transaction B own the Transaction B
Assets free from liens and encumbrances) in consideration for the issue of $4.6 million of
Convertible B Loan Notes and $10.4 million of Convertible C Loan Notes proportionate to
their ownership of Maritime Finance.

The Rider Barge will be acquired by the acquisition of Everest Vessel Holdings.
Everest has conditionally agreed to subscribe at their nominal amount for Convertible A Loan Notes
with an aggregate nominal amount of $0.5 million in cash.
Alan Quasha has conditionally agreed to sell all issued and outstanding interests in Everest Vessel
Holdings (which owns the Rider Barge free from encumbrances and liens) to Global in consideration
for the issue of $1.5 million of Convertible B Loan Notes and $4.6 million of Convertible C Loan
Notes.
Further information on the Transaction Agreements is set out in paragraph 11 of Part V of this
document.
Acquisition of the Transaction B Assets from DCM – The Foreclosure Process
Everest is also the holder of 76.5 per cent. of the issued shares in Deepcor Marine Inc. (‘‘DCM’’).
MCP and Caleura advanced secured loans to DCM (the ‘‘MCP Loans’’) on which interest has
accrued. The Transaction B Assets were pledged as part of the security for the MCP Loans.
MCP and Caleura assigned part of the MCP Loans and all their rights in respect thereof and the
related security to Maritime Finance in consideration for the issue to them, separately, of shares
comprising in aggregate 100 per cent. of the issued interests in Maritime Finance. MCP and Caleura
have conditionally agreed to sell all of the interests in Maritime Finance to Global as part of
Transaction B.
Maritime Finance has exercised its rights of foreclosure pursuant to the security in respect of the
MCP Loans over the Transaction B Assets. The transfer of the Transaction B Vessels to Maritime
Finance is expected to be implemented through a court order confirming the sale and directing the
issue of the relevant bills of sale. The transfer of the equipment, subject to Transaction B, is not
subject to such judicial proceeding and is intended to be foreclosed upon in accordance with the
provisions of applicable law. Following completion of the foreclosure process and transfer of the
Transaction B Assets to Maritime Finance it will have full ownership and possession of the these
assets free from all encumbrances and liens.
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Completion of the transfer of the Transaction B Assets to Maritime Finance is a condition to
completion of Transaction B and is currently expected to take place on or around 27 January 2017,
subject to any potential delays.
Provisions applicable to both Transactions
In certain circumstances, including if claims are made against any of the vessels which are the subject
of the Transactions or their ship-owning companies relating to pre-completion events and are not
settled by the sellers, Transaction A and/or Transaction B (as applicable) could be reversed with the
Everest Loan Note obligations being reinstated and/or the related B and C Convertible Loan Notes
being cancelled.
As described in further detail below, some of the Convertible Loan Notes are due to be issued at the
time of completion of the Transactions, with the balance to be issued within the following three
months.
Everest is an affiliated company of the Quasha family trusts, which also have an interest in Lyford,
an existing shareholder of the Company. Alan Quasha is a principal beneficiary of the Quasha family
trusts. HKN Inc., the Company’s principal shareholder, Lyford and its parties acting in concert with
it are interested in 22,553,406 Ordinary Shares, representing 62.45 per cent. of the issued share capital
of the Company.
Transaction B Vessels
DC Dancer
Built in 1977, the DC Dancer is a four-point diving support vessel that supports surface diving
operations. The DC Dancer is equipped with a 30 ton EBI crane and has accommodations of up to
36 berths. The vessel is currently flagged in the United States and the port of registry is in New
Orleans, Louisiana.
The DC Dancer will be delivered by MCP to the Berwick dock facility in Louisiana, USA as
designated by Global.
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DC Star
Built in 1967, the DC Star is a four-point diving support vessel that assists surface diving operations.
The DC Star is equipped with a 20 ton HydraPro crane and has accommodations of up to 32 berths.
The vessel is currently flagged in the United States and the port of registry is in New Orleans,
Louisiana.
The DC Star will be delivered by MCP to the Berwick dock facility in Louisiana, USA as designated
by Global.

DC Fred
Built in 1969, the DC Fred is a four-point diving support vessel that assists surface diving operations.
The DC Fred is equipped with a 25 ton Coast crane and has accommodations of up to 36 berths.
The vessel is currently flagged in the United States and the port of registry is in Morgan City,
Louisiana.
The DC Fred will be delivered by MCP to the Berwick dock facility in Louisiana, USA as designated
by Global.
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DC IV
Built in 2000, the DC IV is a four-point diving support vessel that assists surface diving operations
and offshore inspections. The DC IV has accommodations of up to 21 berths. The vessel is currently
flagged in the United States and the port of registry is in Morgan City, Louisiana.
The DC IV has been delivered by MCP to the Berwick dock facility in Louisiana, USA as designated
by Global.

DC Polo
Built in 1983, the DC Polo is a four-point diving support vessel that assists surface diving operations
and offshore inspections. The DC Polo has accommodations of up to 19 berths. The vessel is
currently flagged in the United States and the port of registry is in Morgan City, Louisiana.
The DC Polo will be delivered by MCP to the Berwick dock facility in Louisiana, USA as designated
by Global.

DC Triumph, DC Victory, and DC Sterling
The DC Triumph, Victory, and Sterling are currently out of service and would require extensive work
and investment to return to service. The Company may determine to salvage these vessels.
Rider Barge
Built in 1995, the Rider Barge is a non-propelled pipelay barge. It features pipe laying equipment and
can support air diving operations. The Rider Barge has accommodations of up to 88 berths. The
vessel is currently flagged in the United States and the port of registry is in New Orleans, Louisiana
and is in laid up status.
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The Rider Barge will be delivered by Everest Vessel Holdings to the Berwick dock facility in
Louisiana, USA as designated by Global.

Berwick dock facility
Global has signed a one-year lease with Hellenic, L.L.C. for exclusive use of the docking facility in
Berwick, Louisiana. Lease of this facility provides 24-hour docking services. The Company has also
contracted for on-site 24-hour security for the vessels. The facility also includes office space and
adequate area for storage of equipment.
The lease is for an initial period of one year at a rate of $10,000 per month and has an option for a
further two years at $12,000 per month.
Convertible Loan Notes:
Three forms of Convertible Loan Notes are due to be issued by the Company pursuant to the
Transactions. Set out below is a summary of the principal terms which differ between the different
tranches and those which apply to all.
Convertible A Loan Note:
Principal Amount:

$10,500,000

Maturity Date:

1 January 2027 (unless converted to Ordinary Shares before then).
Payments on maturity are to be settled in cash.

Interest:

Non-compounding interest will be payable upon maturity or
conversion (calculated on a 360-day calendar year) at 8 per cent.

Conversion Price:

The outstanding principal amount will be convertible into Ordinary
Shares at 50 pence per share (the ‘‘A Conversion Price’’), subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances.

Convertible B Loan Note:
Principal Amount:

$6,100,000

Maturity Date:

1 January 2029 (unless converted to Ordinary Share before then).
Payments on maturity are to be settled in cash or satisfied in whole
or in part by the issue of Ordinary Shares at the option of the
Company on the basis described under ‘‘Repayment Terms’’ below.

Interest:

Non-compounding interest will be payable upon maturity or
conversion (calculated on a 360-day calendar year) at 6 per cent.,
payable in cash or satisfied by the issue of Ordinary Shares at the
option of the Company.

Conversion Price:

The outstanding principal amount will be convertible into Ordinary
Shares at 160 pence per share (the ‘‘B Conversion Price’’), subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances.
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Convertible C Loan Note:
Principal Amount:

$15,000,000

Maturity Date:

1 January 2032 (unless converted to Ordinary Shares before then).
Payments on maturity to be settled in cash or satisfied in whole or
in part by the issue of Ordinary Shares at the option of the
Company on the basis described under ‘‘Repayment Terms’’ below.

Interest:

Non-compounding interest will be payable upon maturity or
conversion (calculated on a 360-day calendar year) at 6 per cent.,
payable in cash or satisfied by the issue of Ordinary Shares at the
option of the Company.

Conversion Price:

The outstanding principal amount will be convertible into Ordinary
Shares at 225 pence per share (the ‘‘C Conversion Price’’ and;
together with the A Conversion Price and B Conversion Price, the
‘‘Applicable Conversion Price’’), subject to adjustment in certain
circumstances.

General Terms of Convertible Loan Notes:
Voluntary Conversion Terms:
A holder of Convertible Loan Notes may convert any amount of
the outstanding principal amount and (in the case of the
Convertible B Loan Notes and Convertible C Loan Notes only)
any unpaid and accrued interest of the Convertible Loan Notes into
Ordinary Shares at the Applicable Conversion Price at any time
following thirty days from the issue of the relevant Convertible
Loan Notes with a 20-day notice to the Company.
Mandatory Conversion Terms:

The Company may elect to convert the outstanding principal
amount of the Convertible Loan Notes (along with any unpaid and
accrued interest on those Convertible B and C Loan Notes) into
Ordinary Shares, in the event that for any 10 consecutive business
days, the average closing price on AIM of the Ordinary Shares
equals or exceeds 110 per cent. of the Applicable Conversion Price.

Repayment Terms:

Each issue of Convertible Loan Notes may at any time after issue
be redeemed at their nominal amount by the Company on 10 days’
notice, during which period conversion rights can be exercised by
the holders.
At maturity any Convertible Loan Notes not previously converted
into Ordinary Shares, will be redeemed in cash in the case of the
Convertible A Loan Notes, and either (at the option of the
Company) in cash and/or through the issue of Ordinary Shares in
the case of the Convertible B Loan Notes and Convertible C Loan
Notes. Ordinary Shares to be issued at maturity will be issued at a
price equal to the greater of (i) the Applicable Conversion Price for
that class of Convertible Loan Notes and (ii) 110 per cent. of the
average closing price of the Ordinary Shares on AIM for the 10
trading days immediately preceding maturity. If the value of the
Ordinary Shares to be issued on repayment of Convertible B Loan
Notes and Convertible C Loan Notes on this basis is less than the
value of the principal amount being repaid, the applicable
conversion price would be reduced to such level as would result
in these values being the same provided that the applicable
conversion price cannot be less than the nominal value of the
Ordinary Shares.

Pledge Provision:

The Convertible Loan Notes will be unsecured. Global will
undertake not to use the Transaction B Assets (excluding the
Rider Barge) as security or collateral in any subsequent transaction
or financing.
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Conversion Price Adjustments:

The Applicable Conversion Price will be subject to standard
mechanical adjustments.

Further information on the Convertible Loan Notes can be found in paragraph 11 of Part V of this
document
Timing for issue of the Convertible Loan Notes:
The timings for cash subscriptions for the Convertible A Loan Notes and for the issue of the
Convertible B Loan Notes and the Convertible C Loan Notes as consideration pursuant to the
Transaction B Agreement are set out below:
Everest

Everest Vessel
Holdings

MCP

Caleura

Total

As part of
Completion

ALN: Nil
BLN: Nil
CLN: Nil

ALN: Nil
BLN: Nil
CLN: Nil

ALN: $2,292,000
BLN: $1,054,320
CLN: $2,383,680

ALN: $708,000
BLN: $325,680
CLN: $736,320

ALN: $3,000,000
BLN: $1,380,000
CLN: $3,120,000

31 March
2017

ALN: Nil
BLN: Nil
CLN: Nil

ALN: Nil
BLN: Nil
CLN: Nil

ALN: $5,348,000
BLN: $2,460,080
CLN: $5,561,920

ALN: $1,652,000
BLN: $759,920
CLN: $1,718,080

ALN: $7,000,000
BLN: $3,220,000
CLN: $7,280,000

ALN: $500,000
BLN: Nil
CLN: Nil

ALN: Nil
BLN: $1,500,000
CLN: $4,600,000

ALN: Nil
BLN: Nil
CLN: Nil

ALN: Nil
BLN: Nil
CLN: Nil

ALN: $500,000
BLN: $1,500,000
CLN: $4,600,000

ALN: $ 500,000
BLN: Nil
CLN: Nil

ALN: Nil
BLN: $1,500,000
CLN: $4,600,000

ALN: $7,640,000
BLN: $3,514,400
CLN: $7,945,600

ALN: $2,360,000
BLN: $1,085,600
CLN: $2,454,400

ALN: $10,500,000
BLN: $6,100,000
CLN: $15,000,000

Date/Time

15 April
2017
Total

Conversion of the Convertible Loan Notes:
The maximum number of new Ordinary Shares which could be issued on full conversion of the
Convertible Loan Notes, calculated assuming conversion at the Applicable Conversion Price for each
class on the respective maturity dates with (in the case of the Convertible B Loan Notes and
Convertible C Loan Notes) accrued interest satisfied by the issue of Ordinary Shares and with no
adjustment to the conversion terms, is as follows:
Number of new
Ordinary Shares
17,213,115
5,375,000
10,382,514
32,970,628

Convertible A Loan Notes
Convertible B Loan Notes
Convertible C Loan Notes
Total
5.

SUBSEA SERVICES MARKET OPPORTUNITY AND COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT

Subsea Services
According to a market analysis report it is estimated that the Gulf of Mexico has over 3.34 billion
barrels of proven oil reserves in non-producing reservoirs and that there is approximately $36.4 billion
of projected capital expenditure to be spent by the end of 2020 in the Gulf of Mexico as a whole of
which $8.4 billion (23 per cent.) is in depths of less than 1,600 metres (Estimated Oil and Gas
Reserves, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, March 2016).
Currently, in the Gulf of Mexico, there are over 3,800 production platforms and 33,000 miles of
offshore pipelines (Source: Impact of the 2008 Hurricanes on the Natural Gas Industry, Energy
Information Administration).
Subsea service vessels, similar to those being purchased pursuant to the Transactions, are used to
transport divers, technology and equipment to oil fields which require work-overs or remediation.
Most servicing is undertaken subsea which requires specialist divers, remote operated vehicles,
operators and equipment, all of which are vessel-based. Recent Gulf of Mexico shallow water field
transactions, such as the divestiture by Chevron of their shallow water fields, may provide vessel
operators with potential new vessel contract tenders and service opportunities over the next few years.
According to the report referenced above the drop in demand for diver support vessels through 20142016 suggests a substantial backlog in inspection, repair and maintenance. The report notes that while
maintenance intervals are not publicly declared and vary from operator to operator, it is to be
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expected that demand will pick up post-2017 as work programmes have not historically been, and are
unlikely to be, deferred for more than four years.
Examples of services provided by subsea service companies are:
*

Platform and pipeline inspections – a routine visual inspection of the physical infrastructure by
divers or Remote Operated Vehicles (ROVs);

*

Trenching, dredging and burial – the excavation of the subsea surface for the purpose of either
burying pipes and cables or deepening the waterway;

*

Accommodation support – the provision of temporary lodgings for offshore rig workers;

*

Search and recovery;

*

Logistics support;

*

Wet (underwater) welding of pipes;

*

Hot tapping – connection of existing piping with the interruption of emptying that section of
pipe;

*

Underwater burning – the cutting of subsea pipelines;

*

Installation of risers – pipes that connect an offshore rig to a subsea system;

*

Change out of single-point mooring systems – loading buoys anchored offshore that provide a
mooring point;

*

Installation of pipeline end manifolds – the mechanics that connect a subsea pipeline to the end
rig;

*

Inspection and repair of remote operated vehicles;

*

Decommissioning support; and

*

General diving operations requiring vessel support.

Competitive Environment and Regulation
Several local vessel operators within the Gulf of Mexico are geared towards DSV and ROVSV
services. Of these local operators, several have been forced to allow their floating assets to deteriorate
over a prolonged period due to the financial pressures in the area.
The larger competitors within the shallow water Gulf of Mexico include Triton Diving, Aqueous,
Bisso Marine, Epic Divers, Chet Morrison and Ranger Subsea. Currently there is considerable
competition in the market given the small number of projects open for tendering.
The competitive environment and fragmented nature of this sub-sector may lead to consolidation in
the event of further sustained recovery in the oil price. The Directors anticipate that, in addition to
increased activity from any stronger oil price, increased operational vessel utilisation will be
achievable as increased subsea inspection and repair operations become critical for field operation
productivity and/or compliance with regulatory requirements.
The Jones Act, also known as the Merchant Marine Act of 1920, is US legislation that reserves US
coastwise transportation to particular US flag ships that have a ‘‘coastwise endorsement’’ on their US
Certificate of Documentation. As less than 75 per cent. of Global’s issued shares are owned by US
persons the Enlarged Group’s vessels, even those which are US flagged, owned by US entities and
managed by US personnel, will not be eligible to have a ‘‘coastwise endorsement’’ on their US
Certificate of Documentation. This means that they will be likely not to be eligible to undertake
transportation of merchandise and passengers between US ports and places. This may reduce the
opportunities for profitable exploitation of the Enlarged Group’s vessels.
6.
REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTIONS
Although the timing and sustainability of further recovery in the oil price is unknown, the Company
believes that further price recovery is, at some level, inevitable. The Directors believe that during the
next 18 months there will be an opportune period for the Company to acquire assets or businesses
within the energy industry at low prices in order to expand and create a more diversified portfolio of
assets and/or companies that can take advantage of such further recovery in the oil price and any
increase in subsea service activity.
For the reasons described above and below, the Company believes that the Transactions are in the
best interest of its Shareholders.
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Penetration into the asset-backed vessel service industry
The Transactions represent Global’s first step into the global subsea services industry. The Company
believes that the anticipated oil price recovery will bring significant opportunities in the subsea service
industry and acquiring the Transaction A Vessels and Transaction B Assets and will provide it with a
platform to capitalise on this market.
Technology services
The Company will be seeking to invest in offshore technology that aims to increase service levels,
improve profitability and add value to its subsea service assets.
Logistics
The Company will also be looking to invest in subsea services logistical businesses or to develop its
own expertise in this area. The Directors believe that this expertise, alongside technology and subsea
assets, can create a competitive advantage when the oil and subsea industry recovers.
7.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Everest and Everest Vessel Holdings are affiliated companies of the Quasha family trusts which also
have an interest in Lyford, an existing shareholder in Global. Alan Quasha, the proposed seller of
Everest Vessel Holdings is a principal beneficiary of the Quasha family trusts. Alan Quasha is a
director of HKN, the Company’s principal shareholder. In addition, Alan Quasha’s brother, Wayne
Quasha, controls Everest which itself controls Lyford. HKN, Lyford and the parties acting in concert
with it are interested in 22,553,406 Ordinary Shares, representing 62.45 per cent. of the issued share
capital of the Company. By virtue of these holdings, the entry into the Transaction Agreements with
Everest and Alan Quasha and the amendments to the Everest Loan Note and issuance to Everest and
Alan Quasha of Convertible Loan Notes constitute related party transactions in accordance with
AIM Rule 13.
The Independent Directors consider, having consulted with finnCap, that the terms of Transaction
Agreements, amendments to the Everest Loan Note and issuance to Everest and Alan Quasha of
Convertible Loan Notes are fair and reasonable insofar as Shareholders are concerned.
8.
CURRENT TRADING AND FUTURE PROSPECTS
For the six months to 30 June 2016, Global reported the following financial highlights:
*

Strong cash and cash equivalents balance of $21 million;

*

Note receivable balance of $10 million with a 12 per cent. coupon (balance now standing at
$12 million);

*

Debt free;

*

Revenue of $84,000 and loss before tax from continuing operations of $2.3 million.

These figures are taken from the Group’s unaudited interim accounts for the period ending 30 June
2016.
Current trading is consistent with the Board’s expectations.
The Company is incurring non-recurring costs associated with the Transactions and the Admission
process.
As stated above, the Directors believe that the entry into the subsea services sector represents a good
counter-cyclical investment for the Company that will enable it to capitalise on recoveries in the oil
price and the related requirement for support services.
On completion of the Transactions, the Company will own 11 subsea service vessels, certain
equipment and one barge. The Directors believe that these will allow the Group to service the
offshore oil and gas platforms that operate in the Gulf of Mexico in depths of less than 300 feet
(although the Mystic Viking and Midnight Star are also able to operate in depths of up to 5,000 feet
and 700 feet respectively). This sub-sector is currently depressed since the prevailing oil price makes
many operations for current oil and gas operators uneconomic. The Directors believe that this has
had a knock-on effect on the companies that service this part of the industry as they have been
forced to compete for work which has become scarcer. The Directors are firm in their view that the
Company will not take on uneconomic work in order to have its vessels in service. Accordingly, it is
likely that the vessels will remain inactive for a considerable period until the oil price recovers and
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exploration and production operations return in the shallow water areas of the Gulf of Mexico. The
Company will continue to incur maintenance and docking costs which may not be covered by its
earnings while the vessels remain inactive. The Company’s strong cash balance will enable it to adopt
such an approach for the foreseeable future. Upon a recovery in the market, Global will determine in
what order it will put its vessels into service (if at all).
However, the Directors believe that an improvement in the oil price is, at some level, inevitable and
that, accordingly, oil and gas exploration and production activities will increase in the shallow water
areas of the Gulf of Mexico. The Directors believe that the Company will be able to take advantage
of such recovery through the exploitation of its vessels and its other assets in an environment in
which many competitors will have suffered from the attrition of the prior years.
9.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mikel Dean Faulkner, aged 67, (Chairman)
Mikel Faulkner holds a Bachelors degree in Mathematics and Physics and a Masters degree in
Business Administration. His employment experience includes service as an officer in the United
States Naval Nuclear Power Program, a member of the audit staff at Arthur Andersen & Co., a
financial officer for American Quasar Petroleum, and at HKN, Inc. (formerly Harken Energy
Corporation), where he served as chairman from 1991 to 2003 and has been the chief executive officer
since 1982.
Alan Brodie Henderson, aged 83, (Non-Executive Director)
Alan Henderson is chairman of Smart Matrix Limited. He is a director of North One Garden Centre
Limited and West Six Garden Centre Limited. He was previously chairman of Forum Energy PLC,
Aberdeen New Thai Investment Trust PLC, Aberdeen New Dawn Investment Trust PLC and Ranger
Oil (UK) Ltd and a director of ADT Ltd and Ranger Oil Ltd.
David Paul Quint, aged 66, (Non-Executive Director)
David Quint is a graduate of the University of Notre Dame from which he received a Bachelors
degree in Modern Languages in 1972 and a Juris Doctorate in 1975. From 1975 until 1982, he was
an attorney with Arter & Hadden in Cleveland, Ohio and Washington D.C. From 1983 until 1992, he
served as the managing director of the London-based international financing arm of a US oil and gas
company. In 1992, David founded RP&C International, Inc., an investment-banking firm with offices
in London and New York. In 2016, RP&C International was acquired by Arundel AG, a Swiss
company listed on the SIX Stock Exchange in Zurich which invests in assets and provides financial
services on a global basis. He currently serves as a director of Arundel AG and as the chief executive
officer of Arundel Group Limited.
Donald Zac Phillips, aged 44, (Non-Executive Director)
Zac Phillips was elected to the Board of Directors in 2014. Zac holds a chemical engineering degree
and a doctorate of chemical engineering from BP and the University of Bath. From 2006 to 2010,
Mr. Phillips served as chief financial officer and founding director of Dubai World’s Oil & Gas
Business, DB Petroleum (formerly BSG Energy). He currently acts as an independent energy
consultant to companies during periods of development and expansion, assisting with areas such as
investment banking, assets valuation and capital market activity through Phillips Energy Consultants,
a financial management firm he founded. He currently holds the role of non-executive director for
Kairos Petroleum. He is also a member of the SPE and the Institute of Chemical Engineers.
Senior Management
Anna Williams (Director of Strategy and Business Development)
Anna Williams formerly served as Finance Director of Global from 2010 to 2016. She served as chief
financial officer for HKN, Inc. (formerly Harken Energy Corporation), a US publicly-listed company,
from 2000 to 2010 and as international finance manager from 1996 to 2000. Prior to that, Ms.
Williams began her career in public accounting work at Arthur Andersen & Co. She has also served
on the board of directors and audit committee of an independent Canadian-listed oil and gas
company. Ms. Williams is a Certified Public Accountant.
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John Payne (Director of Operations)
John Payne has more than 30 years’ experience in the international subsea sector. A qualified Master
Mariner, Mr. Payne has held a number of senior business positions since coming ashore in 1999. He
has gained his international experience within the subsea telecom, renewable and offshore subsea
sectors and has held senior roles in Business Administration, Business Development and Service
Delivery and more recently was interim chief executive to Hallin Marine before taking a senior role
with specialist chemical provider Aubin Ltd. He has qualified as a Chartered Director and is a Fellow
of the Institute of Directors with experience in operating in USA, Europe and Asia.
Sarah Gasch (Finance Director)
Sarah Gasch formerly served as executive vice president and chief operating officer of HKN, Inc. and
chief executive officer of BriteWater International, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of HKN from
2009 to 2016. During her tenure at HKN, she also served as chief financial officer, chief accounting
officer, corporate secretary and controller. Prior to joining HKN, Ms. Gasch served as vice president
and chief accounting officer for Green Hunter Energy, Inc., a public alternative energy company
where she was responsible for the creation and management of the entire accounting and reporting
organization from 2008 to 2009. Ms. Gasch also served as financial reporting manager for Magnum
Hunter Resources, Inc., a public oil and gas company from 2002 to 2005. Ms. Gasch began her
career in public accounting.
10. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Directors believe that the success of the Company will depend to a high degree on the retention
and future performance of the management team. The Directors also recognise the importance of
ensuring that all employees are well motivated and identify closely with the success of the Company
for which purpose the Company has established the Share Option Scheme.
Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out at paragraph 7 of Part V and the Resolution
provides for authority for the grant of options pursuant to the Scheme.
11. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Directors recognise the value and importance of high standards of corporate governance.
Accordingly, whilst the Corporate Governance Code does not apply to AIM companies, the Directors
intend to observe the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code to the extent they consider
appropriate in the light of the Group’s size, stage of development and resources. The Board also
proposes, so far as practicable, to follow the recommendations set out in the Corporate Governance
Code for Small and Mid-Size Quoted Companies published by the Quoted Companies Alliance.
The Board
The Board comprises three Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director. The Executive
Director is Mikel Faulkner, who serves as the Chairman of the Company. The three Non-Executive
Directors are Alan Henderson, David Quint and Zac Phillips. The Company considers that each of
the Non-Executive Directors is an independent Director in that: i) none are executive officers or
employees of the Company and ii) none have a relationship with the Company that will interfere with
the exercise of independent judgement in carrying out the responsibilities of such Directors. Although
share option awards and long-term incentive grants have been made to the Non-Executive Directors
these are not considered to impact their independence. The Directors provide the Company with a
wide range of expertise on issues relating to the Company’s mission, operations, strategies and, most
importantly, its standards of conduct.
The Board is responsible to the Shareholders for the leadership and control of the Company. The
Board meets formally four times a year and on an ad hoc basis as required. In compliance with the
Combined Code, the Board considers and monitors all such matters as are specifically reserved to it
under the Company’s Articles. The Company’s management provides appropriate and timely
information to the Board to enable the Board to carry out its duties. The Company’s Articles provide
for formal and transparent procedures to appoint new Board members. The Articles further provide
for re-election of all Directors each year. The Board has considered the formation of a Nomination
Committee but does not consider it to be appropriate for the current nature and size of the Board
and Company. The Board will continue to monitor this matter. The following committees deal with
specific aspects of the Group’s affairs:
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee, which is chaired by David Quint, comprises only the Non-Executive Directors
and meets as required and at least twice a year. The Audit Committee provides a forum for reporting
by the Group’s external auditors.
The responsibilities of the Audit Committee comprise recommending to the Board the appointment
and remuneration of the auditors, co-ordinating with the auditors on any problems or reservations
they may have and reviewing with them the management reports prepared as a result of audits
carried out, review of the Company’s policy on internal controls and review of interim and annual
financial statements before submission to the Board.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the remuneration of the
Executive Directors and the ongoing review of the remuneration and other benefits of the Executive
Directors and senior executives, recommending from time to time the introduction, variation or
discontinuance of any benefits, including bonuses and share options. The Remuneration Committee
comprises only Non-Executive Directors and is chaired by Alan Henderson.
12. SHARE DEALING CODE
The Company has adopted a share dealing code for Directors and applicable employees of the Group
for the purpose of ensuring compliance by such persons with the provisions of the AIM Rules
relating to dealings in the Company’s securities (including, in particular, Rule 21 of the AIM Rules
and the Market Abuse Regulation). The Directors consider that this share dealing code is appropriate
for a company whose shares are admitted to trading on AIM.
The Company will take proper steps to ensure compliance by the Directors and applicable employees
with the terms of the share dealing code and the relevant provisions of the AIM Rules (including
Rule 21) and the Market Abuse Regulation.
13. DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has not to date paid any dividends and has no current plans to do so.
Under the terms of the Convertible B Loan Notes and the Convertible C Loan Notes while any of
such notes remaining outstanding the Company shall not declare or pay any cash or share dividends
to be paid to its shareholders for three years following the issuance date of those Notes.
14. CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME
If passed, the Resolution will change the name of the Company to Nautilus Marine Services PLC, to
reflect the proposed change in the Company’s principal business. The change of name will take effect
upon the issue by Companies House of a certificate of incorporation in the new name.
Upon the change of name being registered at Companies House, the Company’s AIM TIDM will be
changed to NAUT. The Company’s website address will be changed to www.nautilusmarineplc.com
with effect from Admission.

15. TAKEOVER CODE
At Admission, the Takeover Code will continue to apply to the Company. Under Rule 9 of the
Takeover Code, where any person who, together with persons acting in concert with him or her, is
interested in shares which in aggregate carry not less than 30 per cent. but does not hold shares
carrying more than 50 per cent., of the voting rights of a company that is subject to the Takeover
Code and such person, or any persons acting in concert with him or her, acquires an interest in any
other shares in the company which increases the percentage of shares carrying voting rights in which
he or she is interested, such person would normally have to extend a general offer to all holders of
any class of equity share capital or other class of transferable securities carrying voting rights of that
company for cash at not less than the highest price paid by him or her, or parties acting in concert
with him or her, during the 12 months prior to the announcement of the offer. Once a person,
together with persons acting in concert with him or her, is interested in shares which in aggregate
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carry more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights of a company that is subject to the Takeover Code,
any further acquisition of shares would not normally require such a general offer, subject to the
provisions of Note 4 of Rule 9.1.
Under the Takeover Code, a concert party arises where persons acting together pursuant to an
agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal and whether or not in writing) actively cooperate, through the acquisition by them of an interest in shares in a company, to obtain or
consolidate control of the company or to frustrate an offer for a company. Control means holding,
or aggregate holdings, of an interest in shares carrying 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of
the company, irrespective of whether the holding or holdings give de facto control.
At Admission, the aggregate holding of the Concert Party will be in excess of 50 per cent. of the
Company’s voting rights. Each member of the Concert Party, with the exception of HKN, is therefore
entitled to acquire further Ordinary Shares without being required to make a mandatory offer, provided
that each of their individual interests in Ordinary Shares does not increase through a Rule 9 threshold.
HKN’s holding represents 35.5 per cent. of the Company’s voting rights and therefore, were HKN to
acquire further Ordinary Shares which increases the percentage of shares carrying voting rights in which
they are interested, they would be required to make a mandatory offer under Rule 9 of the Takeover
Code.
Exercise by MCP of the conversion rights pursuant to all the Convertible Loan Notes proposed to be
issued to them could result in them being issued Ordinary Shares representing in excess of 30 per cent.
of the Company’s issued share capital as enlarged by such issuance. Shareholders should note that if
MCP acquires an interest in Ordinary Shares which increases its percentage of shares carrying voting
rights through 30 per cent., MCP will incur an obligation under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code to make a
general offer (unless a dispensation from this requirement has been obtained from the Panel in advance).
Further information on the provisions of the Takeover Code can be found in paragraph 19 of Part V
of this document.
16. TAXATION
The attention of investors is drawn to the information regarding taxation set out in paragraph 18 of
Part V of this document. This information is intended only as a general guide to the current tax
position under UK taxation law for certain types of investor. Investors who are in any doubt as to
their tax position or who are subject to tax in jurisdictions other than the UK are strongly advised to
consult their professional advisers.
17. RISK FACTORS
Your attention is drawn to the Risk Factors set out in Part II of this document. In particular it
should be noted that completion of each of the Transactions is subject to a number of conditions
precedent contained in the Transaction A Agreement and the Transaction B Agreement and that the
Transactions are not inter-conditional.
18. FURTHER INFORMATION
Your attention is drawn to Parts II to V of this document which provide additional information on
the Enlarged Group. You are advised to read the whole of this document.
19. GENERAL MEETING AND VOTING INTENTIONS
Set out at the end of this document is a notice convening a General Meeting to be held on
Wednesday 8 February 2017 at 9:00 a.m. (GMT) at the Company’s registered office at 3 More
London Riverside, London SE1 2AQ at which the Resolution will be proposed as a special resolution
which to be passed will require a majority of 75 per cent. of the votes cast to be in favour of the
Resolution.
If passed, the Resolution will (in summary):
(a)

approve, including for the purposes of the AIM Rules, implementation of either or both of
Transaction A and Transaction B and authorise the Directors to take all such steps as may be
necessary, expedient or appropriate to carry out the Transactions with such non-material
modifications as they may approve;
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(b)

authorise the Directors, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act, to exercise all the
powers of the Company to allot shares in the Company and to grant rights to subscribe for, or
to convert any security into, shares in the Company up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£484,888.69 including in connection with the creation and issue of the Convertible Loan Notes
and the grant of options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme;

(c)

to disapply, in accordance with Section 570 and/or Section 571 of the Act (as applicable), the
statutory pre-emption rights which apply on the issue of shares for cash to enable the Company
to issue the Convertible Loan Notes, to grant options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme in
respect of Ordinary Shares with an aggregate nominal value of £36,112.19 representing 10 per
cent. of the Company’s current issued Share Capital and in addition to effect a non-pre-emptive
issue of Ordinary Shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £36,112.19 representing 10 per
cent. of the Company’s current issued share capital; and

(d)

change the name of the Company to Nautilus Marine Services PLC.

The authorities to be granted as summarised in paragraphs (b) and (c) above shall expire on the
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, but under these authorities the
Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might require shares
to be allotted or rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares to be granted after
such expiry and the Directors may allot shares or grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any
security into, shares (as the case may be) in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the
authority conferred hereby had not expired.
The authority to be granted as summarised in paragraph (b) above shall be used in respect of the
creation and issue of the Convertible Loan Notes as to £329,706.28, up to £36,112.19 in respect of
the grant of options and up to the same amount in respect of non-pre-emptive issues of shares for
cash.
HKN and Lyford, who hold 12,804,768 Ordinary Shares representing 35.5 per cent. of the Issued
Share Capital and 9,202,026 Ordinary Shares representing 25.5 per cent. of the Issued Share Capital,
respectively, have each indicated that they intend to vote in favour of the Resolution.
20. ADMISSION
As each of the Transactions constitutes a reverse takeover of the Company under Rule 14 of the
AIM Rules, Shareholder consent to the Transactions is required at the General Meeting. Provided
that all conditions for the completion of either Transaction A or Transaction B are satisfied, save
only for passing of the relevant Resolution, if the Resolution is duly passed at the General Meeting,
the admission of the Company’s Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM will be cancelled (immediately
prior to Admission) and the Issued Share Capital will be re-admitted to trading on AIM.
For the avoidance of doubt, Transaction A and Transaction B are not inter-conditional and
Admission will be effective in the event that only one is completed.
Application has been made to the London Stock Exchange for the Issued Share Capital to be
admitted to trading on AIM. Admission is expected to take place at 8.00 a.m. on 9 February 2017.
The Ordinary Shares are eligible for CREST settlement. CREST is a paperless settlement procedure
enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate and transferred otherwise than by a
written instrument in accordance with the requirements of CREST. The New Articles permit the
holding and transfer of Ordinary Shares to be evidenced in uncertificated form in accordance with the
requirement of CREST. Accordingly, following Admission, settlement of transactions in Ordinary
Shares may take place within the CREST system if the relevant Shareholder so wishes. CREST is a
voluntary system and Shareholders who wish to receive and retain share certificates will be able to do
so.
21. ACTION TO BE TAKEN
You will find accompanying this document a Form of Proxy for use in connection with the General
Meeting. Whether or not you intend to be present at the General Meeting, you are asked to complete
the Form of Proxy in accordance with the instructions printed on it so as to be received by the
Company’s registrars, Capita Registrars Limited, as soon as possible but in any event not later than
9.00 a.m. on 6 February 2017.
Completion of the Form of Proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting at the General
Meeting should you so wish.
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22. RECOMMENDATION
The Directors consider that the Proposals are in the best interests of the Company and Shareholders
as a whole. Accordingly, the Directors recommend that you vote in favour of the Resolution at the
General Meeting as they intend to do so in respect of their own beneficial holdings amounting, in
aggregate, to 524,399 Ordinary Shares, representing 1.45 per cent. of the Issued Share Capital.
Yours faithfully,

Mikel Faulkner
Chairman
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PART II
RISK FACTORS
This document contains forward-looking statements, which have been made after due and careful enquiry
and are based on the Board’s current expectations and assumptions and involve known and unknown
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially from
those expressed or implied in such statements. The forward-looking statements are subject to, inter alia,
the risk factors described in this Part II. The Board believes that the expectations reflected in these
statements are reasonable, but they may be affected by a number of variables which could cause actual
results or trends to differ materially. Each forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date of the
particular statement.
Factors that might cause a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this Part II.
Given these uncertainties, prospective investors are cautioned not to place any undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements. The Company disclaims any obligation to update any such forward-looking
statements in the document to reflect future events or developments.
Prior to making an investment decision in respect of Ordinary Shares, prospective investors should
consider carefully all of the information within this document, including the risk factors set out in this
Part II. The Board believes these risks to be the most significant for potential investors. However, the
risks listed do not necessarily comprise all those associated with an investment in the Company. In
particular, the Company’s regulatory and/or tax requirements. The risks listed are not set out in any
particular order of priority.
If any of the following risks were to materialise, the Enlarged Group’s business, financial condition,
results or future operations could be materially and adversely affected. In such cases, the market price of
the Ordinary Shares could decline and an investor may lose part or all of his investment. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Board, or which the Board currently deem immaterial,
may also have an adverse effect upon the Enlarged Group and the information set out below does not
purport to be an exhaustive summary of the risks affecting the Enlarged Group.
RISKS RELATING TO THE TRANSACTIONS
The Transactions may not complete
Completion of each of the Transactions is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of a number of
conditions precedent contained in the Transaction A Agreement and Transaction B Agreement
respectively, including but not limited to, the approval of each of the Transactions by the
Shareholders at the General Meeting and Admission. If Shareholders do not approve the Transactions
at the General Meeting, the Transactions will not complete.
There is no guarantee that these (or other) conditions will be satisfied (or, where permitted, waived)
in which case either or both of the Transactions (as applicable) would not be completed.
The Enlarged Group may not be able fully to realise the benefits of the Transactions
The Transaction is the first step in the Company’s new global strategy to enter the subsea services
industry and this change in strategy and operations may raise unexpected issues and may take longer
or prove costlier than anticipated. Although the Directors believe that such disruption is unlikely,
issues may come to light during the course of operations of the Enlarged Group that may have an
adverse effect on the financial condition and results of operations of the Enlarged Group. There is no
assurance that the Company will realise the potential benefits of the Transactions. If the Company is
unable to commence operations successfully then this could have a significantly negative impact on
the results of operations and/or financial condition of the Enlarged Group.
Condition and ownership of the Transaction A Vessels, Rider Barge and Transaction B Vessels and Assets
The Transaction A Vessels, Rider Barge, and Transaction B Vessels are physical assets capable of
deterioration and defects. As most of the Transaction A Vessels and Transaction B Vessels are more
than 20 years old and so inevitably there will have been some deterioration in their condition since
their construction. The Company has conducted a physical inspection of these assets intended to
identify any deficiencies in their condition. However, the inspections that have been carried out, and
that are intended to be carried out prior to completion of the each of the Transactions, may not
identify all defects in the physical condition of the vessels. A material level of defects could have an
adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s ability to implement its business plan and could adversely
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impact the Enlarged Group’s ability to realise the benefits of either Transaction A or Transaction B
as the case may be, or could delay the realisation of any such benefits.
The Transaction B Vessels are in the process of being transferred to Maritime Finance through a
judicial foreclosure process in Louisiana, USA which is intended to ensure that they are transferred to
that company free from any encumbrances and liens. At the date of this document there remain
outstanding steps to be undertaken in order to complete this process and if these steps are not
effectively completed the Transaction B Vessels will not transfer to Maritime Finance and Transaction
B will not be completed. Any incorrect steps in this process could adversely affect Maritime Finance’s
title.
Remedies for breach of the contractual arrangements
While the Transaction A and B Agreements provide some contractual protection as to the condition
and ownership of the Transaction A Vessels and Transaction B Vessels, any warranty claims will be
subject to customary contractual limitations and common law rules which may restrict the Company’s
ability to recover all or a substantial proportion of any losses suffered.
In certain circumstances, including if claims are made against any of the vessels which are the subject
of the Transactions or their ship-owning companies relating to pre-completion events and are not
settled by the sellers, Transaction A and/or Transaction B (as applicable) could be reversed with the
Everest Loan Note obligations being reinstated and/or the related B and C Convertible Loan Notes
being cancelled. Any such reversal of a Transaction would preclude the Company from the
opportunity to benefit from the expected implementation of the Transactions and may not result in
compensation to the Company for related costs and expenditure.
Issue of the Convertible Loan Notes
Following issue of the Convertible Loan Notes by the Company substantial interest payment
obligations will start accruing and will in due course have to be settled in cash or through the issue
of Ordinary Shares.
If Convertible Loan Notes are not converted, repayment of principal and payment of accrued interest
will need to be settled in cash, or where permitted and if the Company so determines, by the issue of
new Ordinary Shares.
Any exercise of conversion rights pursuant to the Convertible Loan Notes will result in the issue of
new Ordinary Shares which will reduce the proportionate ownership and voting interests in the
Company of the then existing Shareholders and could be dilutive of their value.
Impact of leverage
Following completion of the Transactions and the issuance of the Convertible Loan Notes, the
Company will have increased borrowings and debt obligations that will arise on maturity. In
particular, any principal amount outstanding under the Convertible A Loan Notes on the maturity
date of 1 January 2027 is repayable in cash. On the other hand, the Convertible B Loan Notes and
Convertible C Loan Notes are repayable on maturity in Ordinary Shares at the Company’s discretion.
Nevertheless, on Admission, and assuming completion of Transaction B, the Company’s total
outstanding indebtedness will be approximately $7.5 million rising to $31.6 million on full issue of all
the Convertible Loan Notes. The Company expects that leverage will continue for the foreseeable
future. The Directors believe that the level of leverage could reduce over time, however, the degree to
which the Company will continue to be leveraged could have important consequences for the
business, including:
*

making it more difficult for the Group to satisfy its obligations with respect to its indebtedness;

*

restricting the Group’s ability to make strategic acquisitions or pursue other business
opportunities;

*

limiting the Group’s ability to obtain additional financing (noting that the Convertible Loan
Notes preclude the Transaction B Assets, save for the Rider Barge, being given as security in
any other financing) or pay dividends other than as permitted by the terms of the indebtedness;

*

requiring the Group to sell or otherwise dispose of assets used in the business in order to fund
debt service obligations;

*

limiting the Group’s flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the business and the
industry in which it operates;
33

*

placing the Group at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that have less debt;
and

*

increasing the Group’s cost of borrowing.

Any of these consequences or events could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s
ability to satisfy the debt obligations.
The Company’s substantial leverage could materially and adversely affect the business, financial
condition and results of operations and prevent the Company from servicing payment obligations
under the indebtedness.
The Company will require cash to meet obligations under its indebtedness and sustain the business operations,
and the Company’s ability to do so will depend on many factors beyond its control
The Company’s ability to meet its obligations under its indebtedness, to the extent the Convertible
Loan Notes are not converted and accrued interest is not settled by the issue of Conversion Shares,
including making principal, interest and other payments when due, as well as its ability to fund
ongoing business operations, will depend upon future operating performance and the Group’s ability
to generate cash, which, in turn, will be affected to some extent by general economic conditions and
by financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors, including those factors discussed in
this Part II and elsewhere in this document. If, on the maturity date of the Convertible A Loan
Notes in particular, the Group does not have sufficient cash flows from operations and other capital
resources to repay and redeem the debt in full or pay other debt obligations, as the case may be, the
Group may be required to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring
the debt, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital investments or raising additional debt or equity
financing in amounts that could be substantial or on unfavourable terms. The Group’s access to debt,
equity and other financing as a source of funding for operations and for refinancing maturing debt
will also be subject to many factors, including the cash needs of the Group and the then prevailing
conditions in the financial markets, including in the corporate bond, term loan and equity markets. In
the longer term, if the Group were unable to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy its debt
obligations or to refinance its indebtedness on acceptable terms, or at all, it would materially and
adversely affect its business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations, as well as its
ability to pay the principal and interest on its indebtedness. Any failure to refinance its indebtedness,
on or prior to the applicable maturity date, may result in the Group defaulting on such indebtedness
with the attendant risk that the Noteholders could institute proceedings to recover any sums owed
including seeking resource through insolvency or similar proceedings.
RISKS RELATING TO THE INDUSTRY IN WHICH THE GROUP OPERATES
The Gulf of Mexico oil industry – legal and regulatory developments
The Company’s revised global business strategy following completion of Transaction A and/or
Transaction B will be an initial entry into the Gulf of Mexico region to provide services to the
offshore oil and gas drilling industry. Although this is an established industry, there is a public
perception that activity in the Gulf of Mexico is high risk, particularly in light of the Macondo oil
spill in 2010.
Any consequent, or other, moratorium or new laws or regulations may unfavourably impact the
industry and its participants until the Company to the extent it is affected by them.
The oil price
The Enlarged Group will be exposed to the influence and effects of oil and gas prices. Oil and gas
exploration and production companies may reduce or curtail operations if prices become, or are
expected to become, uneconomical and therefore continuation of these prices above these levels is of
key significance to the industry and the success of the Enlarged Group’s business plan.
The Enlarged Group intends to provide services to the offshore drilling industry. Oil and gas
produced offshore is a relatively expensive source of hydrocarbons. Consequently, offshore drilling is
more sensitive to a decline in commodity prices compared with conventional sources onshore. Indeed,
operations in Louisiana, USA, where the Transaction A Vessels and Transaction B Vessels are
located, have been severely curtailed since the oil price fell in 2010. As a countercyclical investment,
the success of the Transactions and the Enlarged Group’s business plan is predicated on a recovery in
the offshore drilling activity in the areas in which it operates. If such recovery does not take place or
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if there is a further curtailment of offshore drilling activities this could have an adverse impact on the
Company’s financial performance and future prospects.
Competition
There are a number of subsea services vessels operating in the Gulf of Mexico where the Enlarged
Group will focus its operations. The Board believes that competitors have submitted to customer
pressure and reduced prices, often substantially, to the extent that many competitors are operating
unprofitably. The Company does not intend to undertake unprofitable tenders and has a sufficiently
robust working capital position to enable it to choose the work it accepts for the foreseeable future.
However, any failure in the medium term of the pricing levels within the subsea services industry in
the Gulf of Mexico to improve to a level that justifies the costs incurred in returning the vessels to
service will have an adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s financial performance and prospects.
Those competitors who the Board believes are operating uneconomically may have the resources to be
able to continue to do so longer than the Board anticipates, thereby keep pricing levels lower than
the Board considers would justify the costs incurred in returning vessels to service.
Technological advances
The subsea services industry relies on various technologies, many of which have been established for a
number of decades. However, technological advancements in the oil and gas industry at large
continue at pace and failure to keep up with any such changes may result in the Company losing
market share. The Company intends to invest in technological research and development or make
strategic acquisitions in such areas that will enable it to provide a strong service or product offering.
However, it is currently uncertain how much such research and development will cost or whether
such cost can be justified. A failure to conduct such research and development or to keep up with
technological advances could adversely affect Global.
Health, safety and the environment
By their nature the environments in which the Enlarged Group’s assets and vessels are intended to
operate are harsh and can be perilous.
While certain of the Company’s management team have extensive expertise in the management of
operations in such environments, and although the Enlarged Group will be applying robust health
and safety policies as referred to below, the Enlarged Group may nevertheless be exposed to the
potential for the occurrence of a reportable incident such as damage to the Transaction A Vessels or
Transaction B Vessels or injury to or death of any of the mariners or divers that it employs,
including through prolonged diving periods. Any such incident could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s reputation or finances.
RISKS RELATING TO THE ENLARGED GROUP’S BUSINESS
A major catastrophic incident in relation to one of the Enlarged Group’s projects could subject the Group to
liability and significant reputational harm
It is possible that a major catastrophic event could occur at one of the projects in relation to which
the Enlarged Group provides subsea services. Such a catastrophic event could result in the personal
injury or death of one or more employees of the Enlarged Group, employees of other contractors
working on the project or members of the public, significant, actionable environmental harm, and/or
extensive damage to third party property. In the event that such a catastrophic event is found to be
caused by the professional negligence of the Enlarged Group, it could have a significant impact on its
business. Such catastrophic incidents could subject the Enlarged Group to claims for personal injury,
wrongful death, property damage or claims by contractors, governments, employees or members of
the public, which could lead to the payment of extensive damages which could potentially exceed
payments under any insurance policies, and result in significant adverse publicity and reputational
harm. Such adverse publicity and reputational harm could lead to a loss of business or a decline in
the Company’s share price if Shareholders anticipate a loss of business.
Any failure of health, safety or environmental programmes or policies could subject the Enlarged Group to
potential liabilities and reputational damage
The nature of the Enlarged Group’s business requires the adoption and maintenance of rigorous
health and safety policies and, to a lesser extent, environmental risk management programmes since
the Enlarged Group’s business will be subject to a broad range of laws, regulations and standards,
including those relating to the health and safety of employees, protection of the public and protection
35

of the environment. The Enlarged Group will be involved in significant and complex projects, for
which a high standard of health, safety and environmental performance is critical. Any failure in
health and safety performance, safe working practices or environmental risk management which
results in a major or significant health and safety or environmental incident could subject the
Enlarged Group to investigations, prosecutions and/or civil litigation, each of which could be costly in
terms of potential liabilities, settlements and management time. Furthermore, such a failure could
generate significant adverse publicity and have a negative impact on the Enlarged Group’s reputation
and ability to win new business, which in turn could adversely affect operating and financial
performance.
Reactivation of Transaction A Vessels and/or Transaction B Vessels may prove uneconomic
It may prove uneconomic to reactivate all or any of the Transaction A Vessels and/or Transaction B
Vessels. In such circumstances or in any other circumstances where vessels may be disposed of for
scrap or otherwise, there is no certainty that the value realised for such vessels will be as much as
that attributed to them in the context of the Transactions.
The value of an investment in the Company is dependent upon the Company achieving the aims set
out in this document. There can be no guarantee that the Company will achieve the level of success
that the Board expects.
Any failure of the Transaction A Vessels or Transaction B Vessels
The Enlarged Group’s global business plan is predicated on using the Transaction A Vessels and
Transaction B Vessels to deliver services to the offshore oil industry in the Gulf of Mexico. As stated
above, these vessels are aged physical assets that are capable of defects and deterioration. In addition,
the services the Enlarged Group will provide may be subject to failure resulting from a variety of
factors which may be under the Enlarged Group’s control. This may include human error, equipment
failure, power loss, failure of monitoring systems and maintenance activities, physical or electronic
security breaches. In addition, this may include factors not under the Company’s control such as
sabotage, vandalism, system failures, fire, earthquake, flood and other natural disasters, water damage
and terrorism. Any such events resulting in defects or deterioration to the Enlarged Group’s assets
could have an adverse impact on the Company’s ability to execute on its business plan which would
in turn have an adverse effect on its financial performance and prospects.
Dependence on key personnel
The Enlarged Group’s success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of the
Executive Director and other key personnel. The Enlarged Group’s future performance will be
substantially dependent on its ability to retain and motivate such individuals. The loss of the services
of the Executive Director or of other key personnel could prevent the Enlarged Group from executing
its business strategy. Moreover, the Enlarged Group’s future success depends in part on its ability to
hire, train and retain key personnel, and the Enlarged Group competes with a number of other
organisations for suitable personnel. If the Enlarged Group fails to retain and hire a sufficient
number and type of personnel, it will not be able to maintain and expand its business. The Enlarged
Group may be required to increase spending to retain personnel.
Use of third party contractors
The Enlarged Group may depend on skilled third party contractors as providers of services to its end
customers, in particular the mariners and divers that the Enlarged Group may require to operate the
Transaction A Vessels and Transaction B Vessels in accordance with international standards of
quality and safety. Continuous access to skilled personnel will be critical to the Enlarged Group’s
business. In addition to full-time employees, the Enlarged Group intends to utilise temporary contract
workers provided by sub-contractors. There can be no assurance that the Enlarged Group will be
able to engage them on reasonable terms. Any disruption in the steady and regular supply of workers
may adversely affect the Enlarged Group’s business. In addition, the Enlarged Group’s business will
rely on a number of third party companies. The failure or inability of certain of these companies to
provide the required services efficiently could disrupt the Enlarged Group’s operations and have an
adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s results of operations.
Failure to negotiate Master Services Agreements
Most oil and gas companies in the Gulf of Mexico require that Master Services Agreements be put in
place with service providers prior to awarding any discreet contracts. On Admission, the Enlarged
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Group will not have any such Master Services Agreements in place and will be required to negotiate
these prior to undertaking operations. Any failure or delay in negotiating such agreements would
delay the timing of the Company’s operations which would have a negative impact on the Company’s
financial results.
Ability to make further acquisitions
The Transactions are intended to be a first step by the Company into the global subsea services
sector. The Company therefore intends to make further, strategically appropriate investments in other
vessels or companies that can enhance the Enlarged Group’s service offering. While the Directors
believe that the recent downturn in the industry provides a counter-cyclical investment opportunity in
this sector, there can be no guarantee that the Company will be able to identify suitable further
acquisition or investment opportunities or, even if it does, that it will be able to make such
acquisition or investment on suitable terms.
Climate/Hurricanes
The Gulf Coast of Louisiana, USA, the state in which the Transaction A Vessels and Transaction B
Vessels are located and in which the Enlarged Group will focus its operations, is frequently hit by
strong hurricanes which can have a devastating impact on the local territory and economy. While the
Transaction A Vessels and Transaction B Vessels and the oil platforms they are intended to serve are
designed to withstand such weather, any inclement weather which impacts the local economy could
have a material adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s assets and operations.
Limited market
The Midnight Star has an operational working depth of up to 700 feet, the Mystic Viking has an
operational working depth of up to 5,000 feet, and the Transaction B Vessels are intended to service
offshore operations in water depths of no more than 300 feet. While the Directors believe that there
will exist significant opportunities within this sub-sector, there is a limited market that the Company
will be able to service following completion of the Transactions and there is considerable competition
and pricing pressure in this market. Any failure by the Company to take sufficient market share in
this addressable market could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial performance and
prospects.
The Jones Act
The Jones Act, also known as the Merchant Marine Act of 1920, is US legislation that reserves US
coastwise transportation to particular US flag ships that have a ‘‘coastwise endorsement’’ on their
US Certificate of Documentation. As less than 75 per cent. of Global’s issued shares are owned by
US persons the Enlarged Group’s vessels, even those which are US flagged, owned by US entities and
managed by US personnel, will not be eligible to have a ‘‘coastwise endorsement’’ on their
US Certificate of Documentation. This means that they will be likely not to be eligible to undertake
transportation of merchandise and passengers between US ports and places. This may reduce the
opportunities for profitable exploitation of the Enlarged Group’s vessels.
Insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover all losses or liabilities that arise
The occurrence of an event for which the Group is not insured or is inadequately insured could have
an adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations and financial condition.
Management of growth
The ability of the Enlarged Group to implement its strategy requires effective planning and
management. The Enlarged Group’s growth plans may place a significant strain on its management
and operational, financial and personnel resource. Therefore, the Enlarged Group’s future growth and
prospects will depend on its ability to manage this growth.
GENERAL RISKS
Investment Risks
An investment in the Ordinary Shares is only suitable for financially sophisticated investors who are
capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment, or other investors who have been
professionally advised with regard to the investment, and who have sufficient resources to be able to
bear any losses that may arise therefrom (which may be the whole amount invested). Such an
investment should be seen as complementary to existing investments in a wide spread of other
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financial assets and should not form a major part of an investment portfolio. Investors should not
consider investing in the Ordinary Shares unless they already have a diversified investment portfolio.
Prospective investors should be aware that the value of an investment in the Company may go down
as well as up and investors may therefore not recover or may lose all of their original investment.
In addition, the price at which investors may dispose of their Ordinary Shares may be influenced by a
number of factors, some of which may pertain to the Company, and others of which are extraneous.
These factors could include the performance of the Company’s business, large purchases or sales of
Ordinary Shares, liquidity (or absence of liquidity) in the Ordinary Shares, currency fluctuations,
legislative or regulatory or taxation changes, general economic and political conditions and interest
and inflation rate variations. The value of the Ordinary Shares may therefore fluctuate and not reflect
their underlying asset value.
Economic conditions and current economic weakness
Any economic downturn either globally or locally in any area in which the Enlarged Group operates
may have an adverse effect on the demand for the Enlarged Group’s services. A more prolonged
economic downturn may lead to an overall decline in the volume of the Enlarged Group’s sales,
restricting the Enlarged Group’s ability to generate a profit.
In addition, although signs of economic recovery have been perceptible in certain countries, the
sustainability of a global economic upturn is not yet assured. If economic conditions remain uncertain
this might have an adverse impact on the Enlarged Group’s operations and business results.
Force Majeure
The Enlarged Group’s operations now or in the future may be adversely affected by risks outside the
control of the Enlarged Group including labour unrest, civil disorder, hostilities, war, subversive
activities or sabotage, fires, floods, explosions or other catastrophes, epidemics or quarantine
restrictions.
Taxation
Any change in the Enlarged Group’s tax status or in taxation legislation or its interpretation, could
affect the Enlarged Group’s ability to provide returns to Shareholders and/or alter the post-tax
returns to Shareholders. Statements in this document concerning the taxation of the Enlarged Group
and the Company’s Shareholders are based upon current tax law and practice which is subject to
change.
RISKS RELATING TO THE ORDINARY SHARES
The market price of the Ordinary Shares may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, some
of which may be out of the Company’s control
Publicly traded securities from time to time experience significant price and volume fluctuations that
may be unrelated to the operating performance of the companies that have issued them. In addition,
the market price of the Ordinary Shares may prove to be highly volatile. The market price of the
Ordinary Shares may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, some of which are
beyond the Company’s control, including: variations in operating results in the Company’s reporting
periods; changes in financial estimates by securities analysts; poor stock market conditions affecting
companies engaged in the same sector; additions or departures of key personnel; any shortfall in
turnover or net profit or any increase in losses from levels expected by securities analysts; and future
issues or sales of Ordinary Shares. Any or all of these events could result in a material decline in the
price of the Ordinary Shares.
Suitability of the Ordinary Shares as an investment
The Ordinary Shares may not be a suitable investment for all the recipients of this document. Before
making a final decision, Shareholders and other prospective investors are advised to consult an
appropriate independent financial adviser authorised under the FSMA if such Shareholder or other
prospective investor is resident in the UK or, if not, from another appropriately authorised
independent financial adviser who specialises in advising on acquisitions of shares and other securities.
The value of the Ordinary Shares, and the income received from them, can go down as well as up
and Shareholders may receive less than their original investment. In the event of a winding-up of the
Company, the Ordinary Shares will rank behind any liabilities of the Company and therefore any
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return for Shareholders will depend on the Company’s assets being sufficient to meet the prior
entitlements of creditors.
Legislation and tax status
This document has been prepared on the basis of current legislation, regulation, rules and practices
and the Director’s interpretation thereof. Such interpretation may not be correct and it is always
possible that legislation, rules and practice may change. Any change in legislation and in particular
tax status or tax residence of the Group or in tax legislation or practice may have an adverse effect
on the returns available on an investment in the Company.
The Company’s ability to pay dividends in the future is not certain and is subject to restrictions
The payment of dividends by the Company to Shareholders is highly dependent upon any dividends
and profits that it receives from its subsidiary companies. The Company cannot guarantee that it will
have sufficient cash resources to pay dividends in the future. Under the terms of the Convertible B
Loan Notes and the Convertible C Loan Notes while any of such notes remaining outstanding the
Company shall not declare or pay any cash or share dividends to be paid to its shareholders for
three years following the issuance date of those Notes.
Further issuances of Ordinary Shares may be dilutive
Any exercise of conversion rights pursuant to the Convertible Loan Notes will result in the issue of
new Ordinary Shares which will reduce the proportionate ownership and voting interests in the
Company of the then existing holders of Ordinary Shares and could be dilutive of their value.
The Company may decide to offer additional shares in the future for capital raising or other
purposes. Shareholders who do not take up or who are not eligible to take such an offer will find
their proportionate ownership and voting interests in the Company to be reduced. An additional
offering could also have a material adverse effect on the market price of the Ordinary Shares as a
whole.
The Ordinary Shares will not be admitted to the Official List
The Ordinary Shares are currently, and will following Admission, be traded on AIM and will not be
admitted to the Official List or admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main market
for listed securities. The rules of AIM are less demanding than those of the Official List and an
investment in Ordinary Shares traded on AIM may carry a higher risk than an investment in shares
admitted to the Official List. In addition, the market in Ordinary Shares on AIM may have limited
liquidity, making it more difficult for an investor to realise its investment than might be the case in
respect of an investment in shares which are quoted on the London Stock Exchange’s main market
for listed securities. Investors should therefore be aware that the market price of the Ordinary Shares
may be more volatile than the market prices of shares quoted on the London Stock Exchange’s main
market for listed securities and may not reflect the underlying value of the net assets of the Group.
For these and other reasons, investors may not be able to sell at a price which permits them to
recover their original investment.
Litigation
All industries are subject to legal claims, with and without merit. The Enlarged Group may become
involved in legal disputes in the future. Defence and settlement costs can be substantial, even with
respect to claims that have no merit. Due to the inherent uncertainty in the litigation process, there
can be no assurance that the resolution of any particular legal proceeding will not have a material
effect on the Group’s financial position or results of operations.
Estimates in financial statements
Preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the Company to use estimates and
assumptions. Accounting for estimates requires the Company to use its judgement to determine the
amount to be recorded on its financial statements in connection with these estimates. The Group’s
accounting policies require management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future
events and circumstances. In addition, the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often
determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events. If the estimates and assumptions are
inaccurate, the Company could be required to write down the value of certain assets. On an ongoing
basis, the Company re-evaluates its estimates and assumptions. However, the actual amounts could
differ from those based on estimates and assumptions.
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PART III
FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON GLOBAL ENERGY DEVELOPMENT PLC
Historical financial information for each of the three financial years ended 31 December 2013,
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015 and interim statements for the period ended 30 June 2016.
Historical financial information
1.
Pursuant to Rule 28 of the AIM Rules for Companies, the published Annual Report and
Accounts of Global for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2013, 31 December 2014
and 31 December 2015 and the unaudited 6 month interim accounts for the period ending
30 June 2016 are not reproduced in this document and have been incorporated into this
document by reference.
2.

The Annual Report and Accounts of Global for the years ended 31 December 2013,
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015 and the interim statements for the period ended
30 June 2016 include, on the pages specified in the table below, the following information:
For the year ended 31 December
2013
2014
2015
18
18
16
—
—
—

Nature of information
Independent auditors’ report
Independent Review Report
Consolidated statement of comprehensive
income
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated statement of financial position
Consolidated cash flow statement
Accounting policies
Notes to the financial statements

19
20
21
22
23-31
32-50

19
20
21
22
23-32
32-53

17
18
19
20
21-28
28-47

Period ended
30 June
2016
—
3
4
7
5
6
8
8-14

3.

The interim results for the unaudited 6 month period ending 30 June 2016 can be found in the
announcement released by the Company on 15 September 2016.

4.

The accounts for each of the three financial years ended 31 December 2015 and the unaudited
6 month period ended 30 June 2016 were prepared under International Financial Reporting
Standards, as adopted by the EU (‘‘IFRS’’).

5.

RSM UK Audit LLP (formerly Baker Tilly UK Audit LLP) of 25 Farringdon Street, London
EC4A 4AB is a member firm of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland and has
issued unqualified audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements of Global for the
financial years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015.

6.

BDO LLP of 55 Baker Street, London, W1U 7EU is a member firm of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and has issued an unqualified audit opinion on
the consolidated financial statements of Global for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

7.

The published accounts and reports and announcements referred to above can be viewed on the
Company’s website at www.globalenergyplc.com.
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PART IV
PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
The unaudited pro forma statement of net assets set out below has been prepared for illustrative
purposes only to show the effects of the Transactions on the net assets of the Group as if the
Transactions had become effective on 30 June 2016. In addition, as Transaction A and Transaction B
are not inter-conditional, the unaudited pro forma statement of net assets shows separately the effects
of Transaction A and Transaction B on the net assets of the Group as if either Transaction A or
Transaction B had become effective on 30 June 2016.
It is the sole responsibility of the Directors to prepare the pro forma statement of net assets. The pro
forma statement of net assets has been prepared by the Directors for illustrative purposes only and,
because it addresses a hypothetical situation, does not represent the Enlarged Group’s actual financial
position either prior to or following the Transactions, Transaction A on its own or Transaction B on
its own.
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Unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of the Enlarged Group as at 30 June 2016

30 June 2016
$’000
(Note 2)
A

Assets:
Non-current assets
Intangible Assets
Note Receivable
Property, Plant and Equipment
Other Assets
Total Non-Current Assets

Everest Loan
Note
Amendment
Deed
$’000
(Note 3)
B

Pro Forma
Net Assets of
the Enlarged
Group
$’000

Transaction
costs Transaction A Transaction B
$’000
$’000
$’000
(Note 4)
(Note 5)
(Note 6)
C
D
E A+B+C+D+E

Pro Forma
Net Assets of
the Group as
enlarged by
Transaction A
only
$’000

Pro Forma
Net Assets of
the Group as
enlarged by
Transaction B
only
$’000

A+B+C+D

A+B+C+E

93
—
877
79

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
4,000
8,000
—

—
—
5,640
—

93
4,000
14,517
79

93
4,000
8,877
79

93
—
6,517
79

1,049

—

—

12,000

5,640

18,689

13,049

6,689

—
—
—
—
—
(1,500)

—
(12,050)
—
—
—
50

—
—
—
—
7,500
3,000

251
—
49
295
7,500
20,562

251
—
49
295
—
17,562

251
12,050
49
295
7,500
20,512

(12,000)

10,500

28,657

18,157

40,657

—

16,140

47,346

31,206

47,346

—

(1,692)

(1,692)

(1,692)

Current assets
Inventories
Note Receivable
Trade and Other Receivables
Prepayments & Other Assets
Consideration Receivable
Cash and Cash Equivalents

251
10,050
49
295
—
21,012

Total Current Assets

31,657

—

(1,500)

Total Assets

32,706

—

(1,500)

(1,692)

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(11,529)
(4,611)

(11,529)
(4,611)

(1,692)

—

—

—

(16,140)

(17,832)

(1,692)

(17,832)

(325)

—

—

—

—

(325)

(325)

(325)

(74)
(912)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(74)
(912)

(74)
(912)

(74)
(912)

Total Current Liabilities

(1,311)

—

—

—

—

(1,311)

(1,311)

(1,311)

Total Liabilities

(3,003)

—

—

—

(19,143)

(3,003)

(19,143)

Net Assets

29,703

—

28,203

28,203

28,203

Liabilities:
Non-current liabilities
Long-term provisions
Convertible loan notes to be
issued
Convertible loan notes issued
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and Other Payables
Corporate and Equity Tax
Liability
Short-term Provisions

—
—

—
2,000
—
—
—
(2,000)

(1,500)

—

(16,140)
—

—
—

(11,529)
(4,611)

1.

The pro forma statement of net assets has been prepared in a manner consistent with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group in the period ended 30 June 2016 as incorporated by
reference in Part III.

2.

Financial information in respect of the Group has been extracted without material adjustment
from the audited financial information of the Group for the financial period ended 30 June 2016
which is incorporated by reference in Part III. No account has been taken of the performance
of the Group since 30 June 2016 except as described in note 3.

3.

The Everest note adjustment reflects Global’s acquisition of $2 million of secured bridge
financing note agreements in Everest from HKN, Inc. This transaction completed on 28 October
2016 and does not directly relate to the Transaction, however, it has been included within the
pro forma statement of net assets to give a more meaningful understanding of the Enlarged
Group post the Transactions and in particular the amount of notes receivable.

4.

Estimated transaction costs for Transaction A and Transaction B of $1.5 million have been
adjusted. These transaction costs will be incurred regardless of whether Transaction A,
Transaction B or both Transactions complete.
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5.

The consideration for the purchase of Transaction A Vessels by way of transfer of the sale
shares comprises the forgiveness of $8 million of the principal amount owed by Everest under
the existing note receivable. The remaining $4 million loan note has an extended maturity date
of 15 September 2018 and has therefore been reflected as non-current. In addition, contingent
consideration, which is to be calculated as the lower of $5 million or 75 per cent. of the net
cash inflows associated with the Transaction A Vessels for the period of eighteen months
following completion of Transaction A, has been excluded from the Transaction A pro forma
adjustment.

6.

The acquisition of the Rider Barge and Transaction B Assets to be acquired as part of
Transaction B have a fair value of $5.6 million as determined by third party valuations. The
consideration comprises the issue of loan notes with a fair value of $16.1 million of which cash
proceeds of $10.5 million will be received, with $3 million on completion, and the balance in
March and April 2017. The loan notes will be issued in tranches on completion and in March
and April 2017 and hence have been split between notes issued and notes to be issued.
The key terms of the Convertible Loan Notes issued as part of Transaction B are summarised
in Section 4 of Part I and the value attributed to them is summarised below:
$’000
10,500
6,100
15,000

Convertible A Loan Notes Nominal value
Convertible B Loan Notes Nominal value
Convertible C Loan Notes Nominal value

31,600
(15,460)

Fair value adjustment
Convertible Loan Notes fair value

16,140

Convertible Loan Notes to be issued
Convertible Loan Notes issued

$’000
11,529
4,611

Convertible Loan Notes fair value

16,140
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PART V
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1.
Responsibility
The Directors, whose names and functions appear on page 12 of this document, and the Company
accept responsibility both individually and collectively for the information contained in this document.
To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors, and the Company, each of whom have
taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this document
is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect the import of such
information. All the Directors accept individual and collective responsibility for compliance with the
AIM Rules. Under no circumstances should the information contained in this document be relied
upon as being accurate at any time after Admission.
2.
The Company
The Company was incorporated on 28 November 2001 in England and Wales under the Act with the
registered number 4330608 under the name OIL-OIL PLC. On 6 December 2001, the Company
changed its name to Global Energy Development PLC. The Registrar of Companies issued the
Company with a certificate to commence business and borrow pursuant to section 117 of the Act on
30 January 2002.
The principal legislation under which the Company operates is the Act and regulations made
thereunder.
The Company’s registered office is at 3 More London Riverside, London SE1 2AQ, United Kingdom.
The Company’s principal place of business is 180 State Street, Suite 200, Southlake, TX 76092,
United States, tel. 817 424 2424.
The liability of the members of the Company is limited.
The address of the Company’s website which discloses the information required by Rule 26 of the
AIM Rules is www.globalenergyplc.com.
3.
The Group
The Company is the holding company of the Group. The Company’s principal activity following
Admission will be to act as the holding company of its subsidiaries. The following table contains
details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at the date of this document. All subsidiaries listed
below are 100 per cent. owned by the Company either directly or, in the case of branches, indirectly.
Company name

Country of
incorporation

Details of any branch

Principal activities

Lagosur Petroleum
Colombia, Inc.

Panama

Colombian branch: Lagosur
Petroleum Colombia, Inc.
Sucursal Colombia

Oil and gas exploration
and production company

Cinco Ranch Petroleum
Colombia, Inc

Panama

Colombian branch: Cinco
Ranch Petroleum Colombia,
Inc. Sucursal Colombia

Oil and gas exploration
and production company

Harken del Peru
Limitada

Cayman Islands

Peruvian Branch: Harken del
Peru Limitada

Discontinued oil and gas
exploration company

Global Energy
Management Resources –
Colombia, Inc.

Panama

Colombian Branch: Global
Energy Management
Resources – Colombia Inc.
Sucursal Colombia

Administrative support

Global Energy
Management Resources
Inc.

United States

None

Administrative support

Nautilus Marine
Management, Inc.

United States

None

Administrative support
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On completion of Transaction A, the Company will hold 100 per cent. of the issued share capital of
the following additional principal subsidiaries:
Company name
NMS CD1 Inc.
NMS Star Inc.
NMS Viking Inc.

Country of incorporation
United States
Marshall Islands
Marshall Islands

Details of any
branch
None
None
None

Current principal
activities
Vessel ownership
Vessel ownership
Vessel ownership

On completion of Transaction B, the Company will hold 100 per cent. of the issued share capital of
the following additional principal subsidiaries:
Company name
Maritime Finance, LLC
Everest Vessel Holdings LLC

Country of incorporation
United States
United States

Details of any
branch
None
None

Current principal
activities
Vessel ownership
Vessel ownership

4.
Share capital of the Company
The Company was incorporated with an authorised share capital of £50,000 divided into 50,000
ordinary shares of £1 each. Various resolutions were passed after incorporation of the Company up
until 1 January 2014 (being the start of the period covered by the historical financial information
included by reference in this document) altering the share capital of the Company.
As at 1 January 2014 (being the start of the period covered by the historical financial information
included or incorporated by reference in this document), the issued and fully paid share capital of the
Company was 36,112,187 Ordinary Shares. Since 1 January 2014, no changes to the issued share
capital of the Company have occurred. There are no Ordinary Shares which are not fully paid and
no redeemable preference shares in issue.
5.
Memorandum and Articles of Association
The Articles, which were adopted by a special resolution of the Company passed on 14 May 2010,
contain (amongst others) provisions to the following effect:
Objects and purposes
The Articles do not provide for any objects of the Company and accordingly the Company’s objects
are unrestricted.
Limited liability
The liability of the Company’s members (shareholders) is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on
their shares.
Share rights
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and to any rights for the time being attached to any
existing shares, any shares may be allotted or issued with, or have attached to them, such preferred,
deferred, or other rights or restrictions, whether in regards to dividends, voting, transfer, return of
capital or otherwise, as the Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution, determine or, if
no such resolution has been passed, or so far as the resolution does not make specific provision, as
the Board may determine.
Voting rights
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, to any special terms as to voting on which any
shares may have been issued or may from time to time be held and to any suspension or abrogation
of voting rights pursuant to the Articles, at a general meeting of the Company:
*

every member who is present in person shall, on a show of hands, have one vote;

*

every proxy who has been appointed by one or more members entitled to vote on the resolution
shall, on a show of hands, have one vote except that a proxy shall have one vote for and one
vote against a resolution if the proxy has been appointed by more than one member and the
proxy has been instructed by one or more members to vote for and by one or more other
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members to vote against the resolution, or one or more members have instructed the proxy to
vote for the resolution and one or more members gave the proxy discretion as to how to vote
and the proxy exercises that discretion by voting against the resolution, or one or more
members have instructed the proxy to vote against the resolution and one or more members
gave the proxy discretion as to how to vote and the proxy exercises that discretion by voting for
the resolution; and
*

every member present in person or by proxy shall, on a poll, have one vote for each share of
which he is a holder.

In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by
proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders. For this purpose,
seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names of the holders stand in the register of
members in respect of such share.
If at any time the Company is not subject to the City Code (or any successor regime) and any person
together with persons acting in concert with him acquires shares in the Company which would oblige
him to extend an offer to other shareholders of the Company had such regime applied, the Board
may suspend all voting rights attributable to those shares if such an offer, on terms no less
favourable (in the opinion of the Board) than would have been required under the regime, is not
made within 21 days following the date on which the obligation would have arisen. Any such
suspension may extend for any period during which the obligation to make a such an offer would
have continued to exist under the regime until a compliant offer is made.
Unless the Board otherwise determines, no member is entitled to vote at a general meeting or at a
separate meeting of the shareholders of any class of shares, either in person or by proxy (save as
proxy for another member), or to exercise any other right or privilege as a member in respect of any
share held by him, unless all calls presently payable by him in respect of that share, whether alone or
jointly with any other person, together with interest and expenses (if any) payable by such member to
the Company or if he, or any other person whom the Company reasonably believes to be interested
in such shares, has been issued with a notice pursuant to the Companies Act requiring such person to
provide information about his interests in the Company’s shares and has failed in relation to any
such shares to give the Company the required information within 14 days.
Dividends
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and of the Articles, the Company may by ordinary
resolution declare dividends to be paid to members according to their respective rights and interests
in the profits of the Company. However, no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the
Board.
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Board may declare and pay such interim
dividends (including any dividend payable at a fixed rate) as appears to the Board to be justified by
the profits of the Company available for distribution. If at any time the share capital of the
Company is divided into different classes, the Board may pay such interim dividends on shares which
rank after shares conferring preferential rights with regard to dividends as well as on shares
conferring preferential rights, unless at the time of payment any preferential dividend is in arrears.
Provided that the Board acts in good faith, it shall not incur any liability to the holders of shares
conferring preferential rights for any loss that they may suffer by the lawful payment of any interim
dividend on any shares ranking after those preferential rights.
Except as otherwise provided by the rights attached to shares, all dividends shall be declared and
paid according to the amounts paid up (otherwise than in advance of calls) on the shares on which
the dividend is paid. Subject as aforesaid, all dividends should be apportioned and paid
proportionately to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in
respect of which the dividend is paid, but if any share is issued on terms providing that it shall rank
for dividend as from a particular date, it shall rank for dividend accordingly.
All dividends or other sums payable and unclaimed after having become payable may be invested or
otherwise used by the Board for the benefit of the Company until claimed and the Company shall
not be constituted a trustee in respect thereof. All dividends unclaimed for a period of 12 years after
having become payable shall cease to remain owing by the Company and the dividend recipient shall
no longer be entitled to them.
The Board may, with the authority of an ordinary resolution of the Company, direct that payment of
any dividend declared may be satisfied wholly or partly by the distribution of assets, and in particular
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of paid up shares or debentures of any other company, or in any one or more of such ways. Where
any difficulty arises in regard to such distribution, the Board may settle it as it thinks fit.
The Board may, before recommending any dividend (whether preferential or otherwise), carry to
reserve out the profits of the Company such sums as it thinks fit. All sums standing to reserve may
be applied at the discretion of the Board, for any purpose to which the profits of the Company may
properly be applied. Any sum which the Board may carry to reserve out of the unrealised profits of
the Company shall not be mixed with any reserve to which profits available for distribution have
been carried. The Board may also carry forward any profits which it may think prudent not to
distribute.
Unless the Board otherwise determines, the payment of any dividend or other money that would
otherwise be payable in respect of shares will be withheld if such shares represent at least 0.25 per
cent. in nominal value of their class and the holder, or any other person whom the Company
reasonably believes to be interested in those shares, has been duly served with a notice pursuant to
the Companies Act requiring such person to provide information about his interests in the Company’s
shares and has failed to supply the required information within 14 days. Furthermore such a holder
shall not be entitled to elect to receive shares instead of a dividend.
If cheques, warrants or orders for dividends in respect of a share sent by the Company to the person
entitled there are returned to the Company or left uncashed on two consecutive occasions or,
following one occasion, reasonable enquiries have failed to establish any new address to be used for
the purpose, the Company is not obliged to send any dividends in respect of that share due to that
person until he notifies the Company of an address to be used for the purpose.
Transfer of shares
Subject to any applicable restrictions in the Articles, each member may transfer all or any of his
shares which are in certificated form by instrument of transfer in writing in any usual form or in any
form approved by the Board. Such instrument must be executed by or on behalf of the transferor
and (in the case of a transfer of a share which is not fully paid up) by or on behalf of the transferee.
The transferor is deemed to remain the holder of the share until the transferee’s name is entered in
the register of members.
The Board may, in its absolute discretion, refuse to register any transfer of a share or renunciation of
a renounceable letter of allotment unless:
*

it is in respect of a share which is fully paid up;

*

it is in respect of only one class of shares;

*

it is in favour of a single transferee or not more than four joint transferees;

*

it is duly stamped (if so required); and

*

it is delivered for registration to the registered office for the time being of the Company or such
other place as the Board may from time to time determine, accompanied (except in the case of
(a) a transfer by a recognised person where a certificate has not been issued (b) a transfer of an
uncertificated share or (c) a renunciation) by the certificate for the share to which it relates and
such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor or
person renouncing and the due execution of the transfer or renunciation by him or, if the
transfer or renunciation is executed by some other person on his behalf, the authority of that
person to do so

provided that the Board shall not refuse to register a transfer or renunciation of a partly paid share
on the grounds that it is partly paid in circumstances where such refusal would prevent dealings in
such share from taking place on an open and proper basis on the market on which such share is
admitted to trading. The Board may refuse to register a transfer of an uncertificated share in such
other circumstances as may be permitted or required by the Regulations and the relevant system.
Unless the Board otherwise determines, a transfer of shares will not be registered if the transferor or
any other person whom the Company reasonably believes to be interested in the transferor’s shares
has been duly served with a notice pursuant to the Companies Act requiring such person to provide
information about his interests in the Company’s shares, has failed to supply the required information
within 14 days and the shares in respect of which such notice has been served represent at least
0.25 per cent. in nominal value of their class, unless the member is not himself in default as regards
supplying the information required and proves to the satisfaction of the Board that no person in
default as regards supplying such information is interested in any of the shares the subject of the
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transfer, or unless such transfer is by way of acceptance of a takeover offer, in consequence of a sale
on a recognised stock exchange or is in consequence of a bona fide sale to an unconnected party.
If the Board refuses to register a transfer of a share, it shall send the transferee notice of its refusal,
together with its reasons for refusal, as soon as practicable and in any event within two months after
the date on which the transfer was lodged with the Company.
No fee shall be charged for the registration of any instrument of transfer or any other document
relating to or affecting the title to any share.
Alteration of share capital
If any holder would become entitled to fractions of a share as the result of consolidation, division or
sub-division or redenomination of shares, the Board may, on behalf of those holders sell the shares
representing the fractions for the best price reasonably obtainable and distribute net proceeds of sale
after deduction expenses of sale amongst those holders, unless the amount due to the holder is less
than £3.00. Alternatively, the Board may issue to such holder credited as fully paid by way of
capitalisation the minimum number of shares required to round up his holding to an exact multiple
of the number of shares to be consolidated into a single share, and the amount required to pay up
such shares shall be appropriated at the Board’s discretion from any of the sums standing to the
credit of any of the Company’s reserve accounts (including share premium account and capital
redemption reserve) or to the credit of profit and loss account and capitalised by applying the same
in paying up the share. In relation to such a capitalisation the Board may exercise all the powers on
capitalisation of reserves conferred by the company articles without an ordinary resolution of the
Company.
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Board may treat shares of a holder in certificated
form and in uncertificated form as separate holdings in giving effect to sub-divisions and/or
consolidations and may cause any shares arising on sub-division or consolidation and representing
fractional entitlements to be entered in the Register as shares in certificated form where this is
desirable to facilitate the sale thereof.
Variation of rights
If at any time the share capital of the Company is divided into shares of different classes, any of the
rights for the time being attached to any shares may be varied or abrogated in such manner (if any)
as may be provided in the Articles by such rights or, in the absence of any such provision, either
with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-quarters in nominal value of the
issued shares of the relevant class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with
the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the class.
The quorum at any such meeting shall be not less than two persons present (in person or by proxy)
holding at least one-third of the nominal amount paid up on the issued shares of the relevant class
(excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) and at an adjourned meeting not less than
one person holding shares of the relevant class or his proxy.
Subject to the terms of issue of or rights attached to any shares, the rights for the time being
attached to any shares shall be deemed not to be varied or abrogated by the creation or issue of any
new shares ranking pari passu in all respects (save as to the date from which such new shares shall
rank for dividend) with or subsequent to those already issued or by the reduction of the capital paid
up on such shares or by the purchase or redemption by the Company of its own shares or the sale of
any shares held as treasury shares in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act and the
Articles.
General meetings
The Board may convene a general meeting (which is not an annual general meeting) whenever it
thinks fit.
A general meeting shall be convened by such notice as may be required by law from time to time.
The notice shall specify whether the meeting is convened as an annual general meeting or any other
general meeting, the day, time and place of the meeting and the general nature of the business to be
transacted at the meeting. In the case of a meeting convened to pass a special resolution, the notice
shall include the text of the resolution and specify the intention to propose the resolution as a special
resolution. The notice shall specify that a member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint
one or more proxies (provided each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different
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share held by the member) to attend and to speak and vote instead of the member and that a proxy
need not also be a member. The notice must be given to the members (other than any who, under
the provisions of the Articles or of any restrictions imposed on any shares, are not entitled to receive
notice from the Company), to the Directors and the Auditors and to any other person who may be
entitled to receive it. The accidental omission to give notice to, or the non-receipt of notice by, any
person entitled to receive the same, shall not invalidate the proceedings at the meeting.
The right of a member to participate in the business of any general meeting shall include without
limitation the right to speak, vote, be represented by a proxy or proxies and have access to all
documents which are required by the Companies Act or the Articles to be made available at the
meeting.
A Director shall, notwithstanding that he is not a member, be entitled to attend and speak at any
general meeting. The Chairman of any general meeting may also invite any person to attend and
speak at that meeting if he considers that this will assist in the deliberations of the meeting.
No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. Subject to the
Articles, two persons (either members, duly authorised representatives or proxies) entitled to vote
upon the business to be transacted at the meeting shall be a quorum. The Chairman of the meeting
may, with the consent of the meeting at which a quorum is present, and shall, if so directed by the
meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time (or indefinitely) and from place to place as the
meeting shall determine. Where a meeting is adjourned indefinitely, the Board shall fix a time and
place for the adjourned meeting. Whenever a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more or
indefinitely, seven clear days’ notice at the least, specifying the place, the day and time of the
adjourned meeting and the general nature of the business to be transacted, must be given in the same
manner as in the case of the original meeting.
A resolution put to a vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is duly
demanded. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, a poll may be demanded by the
Chairman, at least five members having the right to vote on the resolution, a member or members
representing not less than 10 per cent. of the total voting rights of all the members having the right
to vote on the resolution or a member or members holding shares conferring the right to vote on the
resolution, being shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than 10 per
cent. of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring that right.
The Board may, for the purpose of controlling the level of attendance, ensuring the safety of those
attending at any place specified for the holding of a general meeting, ensuring the security of the
meeting and ensuring the future orderly conduct of the meeting, from time to time make such
arrangements as the Board shall in its absolute discretion consider to be appropriate and may from
time to time vary any such arrangements or make new arrangements in place thereof. The entitlement
of any member or proxy to attend a general meeting at such place shall be subject to any such
arrangements as may be for the time being approved by the Board. In the case of any meeting to
which such arrangements apply the Board may, when specifying the place of the meeting:
*

direct that the meeting shall be held at a place specified in the notice at which the chairman of
the meeting shall preside (being the principal place); and

*

make arrangements for simultaneous attendance and participation at satellite meeting places or
by way of any other electronic means by members otherwise entitled to attend the general
meeting or who wish to attend at satellite meeting places or other places at which persons are
participating by electronic means, provided that persons attending at the principal place and at
satellite meeting places or other places at which persons are participating by electronic means
shall be able to see, hear and be seen and heard by, persons attending at the principal place and
at such other places, by any means.

Such arrangements for simultaneous attendance at such other places may include arrangements for
controlling the level of attendance in any manner aforesaid at any of such other places, provided that
they shall operate so that any excluded members are able to attend at one of the satellite meeting
places or other places at which persons are participating by electronic means. Any such meeting shall
be treated as taking place at and being held at the principal place.
The Board may direct that any person wishing to attend any meeting should provide evidence of
identity and submit to such searches or other security arrangements or restrictions as the Board shall
consider appropriate in the circumstances and shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to refuse
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entry to any meeting to any person who fails to provide such evidence of identity or to submit to
such searches or to otherwise comply with such security arrangements or restrictions.
Borrowing powers
The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge
all or any part of its undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and uncalled capital and,
subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, to create and issue debentures and other loan stock
and other securities, whether outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of
the Company or of any third party.
Issue of shares
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and to any rights for the time being attached to any
existing shares, any shares may be allotted or issued with or have attached to them such preferred,
deferred or other rights or restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting, transfer, return of
capital or otherwise, as the Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution determine or, if
no such resolution has been passed or so far as the resolution does not make specific provision, as
the Board may determine, and any share may be issued which is, or at the option of the Company or
the holder of such share is liable to be, redeemed in accordance with the Articles or as the Directors
may determine.
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and to any relevant authority of the Company
required by the Companies Act, any new shares shall be at the disposal of the Board.
Directors’ fees
The Non-Executive Directors (other than alternate Directors) shall be entitled to receive by way of
fees for their services as Directors such sum as the Board (or any committee authorised by the
Board) may from time to time determine. Any such fees payable shall be distinct from any salary,
remuneration or other amounts payable to a Director pursuant to any other provision of the Articles
or otherwise and shall accrue from day to day.
The salary or remuneration of any Director appointed to hold any employment or executive office
may be either a fixed sum of money, or may altogether or in part be governed by business done or
profits made or otherwise determined by the Board or any committee authorised by the Board and
may be in addition to or in lieu of any fee payable to him for his services as Director.
The Directors are entitled to be repaid all reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses properly
incurred by them in or about the performance of their duties as Directors.
Pensions and gratuities for Directors
The Board, or any committee authorised by the Board, may exercise all the powers of the Company
to provide pensions, other retirement or superannuation benefits, death or disability benefits or other
allowances or gratuities for persons who are or were Directors of the Company or any subsidiary of
the Company from time to time and their relatives and dependants.
Directors’ interests
The Board may authorise any matter proposed to it in accordance with the Articles which would
otherwise involve a breach by a Director of his duty to avoid conflicts of interest under the
Companies Act, including any matter which relates to a situation in which a Director has or can
have an interest which conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the interests of the Company
(including the exploitation of any property, information or opportunity, whether or not the Company
could take advantage of it but excluding any situation which cannot reasonably be regarded as likely
to give rise to a conflict of interest). This does not apply to a conflict of interest arising in relation to
a transaction or arrangement with the Company. Any authorisation will only be effective if any
quorum requirement at any meeting in which the matter was considered is met without counting the
Director in question or any other interested Director and the matter was agreed to without their
voting or would have been agreed to if their votes had not been counted. The Board may impose
limits or conditions on any such authorisation or may vary or terminate it at any time.
Subject to having, where required, obtained authorisation of the conflict from the Board, a Director
shall be under no duty to the Company with respect to any information which he obtains or has
obtained otherwise than as a Director of the Company and in respect of which he has a duty of
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confidentiality to another person and will not be in breach of the general duties he owes to the
Company under the Companies Act because he fails to disclose any such information to the Board or
to use or apply any such information in performing his duties as a Director, or because he absents
himself from meetings of the Board at which any matter relating to a conflict of interest, or possible
conflict of interest is discussed, and/or makes arrangements not to receive documents or information
relating to any matter which gives rise to a conflict of interest or possible conflict of interest and/or
makes arrangements for such documents and information to be received and read by a professional
adviser on his behalf and/or behaves in any other way authorised by any guidance which may from
time to time be issued by the Board.
Provided that his interest is disclosed at a meeting of the Board, or in the case of a transaction or
arrangement with the Company, in the manner set out in the Companies Act, a Director,
notwithstanding his office:
*

may be a party to or otherwise be interested in any transaction arrangement or proposal with
the Company or in which the Company is otherwise interested:

*

may hold any other office or place of profit at the Company (except that of auditor of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries) and may act by himself or through his firm in a
professional capacity for the Company, and in any such case on such terms as to remuneration
and otherwise as the Board may arrange;

*

may be a director or other officer of, or employed by, or a party to any transaction or
arrangement with, or otherwise interested in, any company promoted by the Company or in
which the Company is otherwise interested or as regards which the Company has powers of
appointment; and

*

shall not be liable to account to the Company for any profit, remuneration or other benefit
realised by any office or employment or from any transaction, arrangement or proposal or from
any interest in any body corporate. No such transaction, arrangement or proposal shall be liable
to be avoided on the grounds of any such interest or benefit nor shall the receipt of any such
profit, remuneration or any other benefit constitute a breach of his duty not to accept benefits
from third parties.

A Director need not declare an interest in the case of a transaction or arrangement with the
Company if the other Directors are already aware, or ought reasonably to be aware, of the interest
or it concerns the terms of his service contract that have been or are to be considered at a meeting of
the Directors or a committee of the Directors or if the interest consists of him being a director,
officer or employee of a company in which the Company is interested.
The Board may cause the voting rights conferred by the shares in any other company held or owned
by the Company or any power of appointment to be exercised in such manner in all respects as it
thinks fit and a Director may vote on and be counted in the quorum in relation to any of these
matters.
Restrictions on Directors’ voting
A Director shall not vote on, or be counted in the quorum in relation to, any resolution of the
Board or of a committee of the Board concerning any arrangement, transaction or arrangement
which is to his knowledge a material interest and, if he purports to do so, his vote will not be
counted, but this prohibition shall not apply in respect of any resolution concerning any one or more
of the following matters:
*

any transaction or arrangement in which he is interested by means of an interest in shares,
debentures or other securities or otherwise in or through the Company;

*

the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of money lent to, or obligations
incurred by him or any other person at the request of or for the benefit of, the Company or
any of its subsidiary undertakings;

*

the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of a debt or obligation of the
Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings for which he himself has assumed responsibility
in whole or in part under a guarantee or indemnity or by the giving of security;

*

the giving of any other indemnity where all other Directors are also being offered indemnities
on substantially the same terms;
51

*

any proposal concerning an offer of shares or debentures or other securities of or by the
Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings in which offer he is or may be entitled to
participate as a holder of securities or in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of which he is to
participate;

*

any proposal concerning any other body corporate in which he does not to his knowledge have
an interest (as the term is used in Part 22 Companies Act 2006) in one per cent or more of the
issued equity share capital of any class of such body corporate nor to his knowledge hold one
per cent or more of the voting rights which he holds as shareholder or through his direct or
indirect holding of financial instruments (within the meaning of the Disclosure and Transparency
Rules) in such body corporate;

*

any proposal relating to an arrangement for the benefit of the employees and Directors or
former employees and former directors of the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings
which does not award him any privilege or benefit not generally awarded to the employees to
whom such arrangement relates;

*

any proposal concerning insurance which the Company proposes to maintain or purchase for
the benefit of Directors or for the benefit of persons who include Directors;

*

any proposal concerning the funding of expenditure by one or more Directors on defending
proceedings against him or them, or doing anything to enable such Director or Directors to
avoid incurring such expenditure where all other Directors are being offered substantially the
same arrangements; or

*

any transaction or arrangement in respect of which his interest, or the interest of Directors
generally has been authorised by ordinary resolution.

A Director shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any resolution of the Board or committee
of the Board concerning his own appointment (including fixing or varying the terms of his
appointment or its termination) as the holder of any office or place of profit with the Company or
any company in which the Company is interested.
Number of Directors
Unless and until otherwise determined by an ordinary resolution of the Company, the number of
Directors shall be not more than ten or less than two.
Directors’ appointment and retirement
Directors may be appointed by the Company by ordinary resolution or by the Board. If appointed
by the Board, a Director holds office only until the next annual general meeting and shall not be
taken into account in determining the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.
At each annual general meeting of the Company, all the Directors shall retire from office. The first
Director to retire shall be the Chairman and following the voting on the resolution in the relation to
the Chairman’s re-appointment, a further Director shall retire until all Directors have stood for reelection. In the event that Directors who stand for re-election are not re-appointed at the annual
general meeting, the final two remaining Directors who would form a quorum shall not be required
to retire and shall remain in office. In such event, such Directors shall be required to retire from
office first at the next annual general meeting.
The Company may by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiration of his period of
office.
The office of a Director shall be vacated if:
*

he resigns by notice in writing delivered to, or, if in electronic form, received by the Company
Secretary at the registered office or tendered at a meeting of the Board;

*

he ceases to be a Director by virtue of any provision of the Companies Act, is removed from
office pursuant to the Articles or the Companies Act, or becomes prohibited by law from being
a Director;

*

he becomes bankrupt, has an interim receiving order made against him, makes any arrangements
or compounds with his creditors generally or applies to the court for an interim order in
connection with a voluntary arrangement or enters into any analogous or similar procedure in
any jurisdiction;
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*

by reason of his mental health, a court makes an order which wholly or partly prevents him
from personally exercising any powers or rights he would otherwise have;

*

a registered medical practitioner gives a written opinion to the Company stating that the
Director has become physically or mentally incapable of acting as a Director and may remain
so for more than three months and the Board resolves that his office be vacated;

*

he is absent (whether or not an alternate Director appointed by him attends), without the
permission of the Board, from Board meetings for six consecutive months and the Board
resolves that his office be vacated; or

*

his resignation is requested by notice in writing.

Proceedings of the Board
Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn
and otherwise regulate its proceedings as it thinks fit. One Director, or the Company Secretary at the
request of a Director, can summon a Board meeting at any time. Notice of a Board meeting shall be
deemed to have been given to a Director if it is given to him personally or by word of mouth or sent
to him (in hard copy or electronic form) at his last known address. A Director may waive the
requirement that notice be given to him of any Board meetings. The quorum necessary for the
transaction of business may be determined by the Board and until otherwise determined, shall be two
persons, each being a Director or an alternate Director.
Untraced shareholders
Subject to the Articles, the Company may sell any shares registered in the name of a member
remaining untraced for 12 years who fails to communicate with the Company following enquiries
made by the Company to trace the member. Until the Company can account to the member, the net
proceeds of sale will be available for use in the business of the Company or for investment, in either
case at the discretion of the Board. The proceeds will not carry interest. The net proceeds will be
forfeited by the member if they are not validly claimed within two years from the date of sale of the
shares by the Company.
Non-United Kingdom shareholders
There are no limitations in the Articles on the rights of non-United Kingdom shareholders to hold,
or to exercise voting rights attached to, the ordinary shares. However, non-United Kingdom
shareholders are not entitled to receive notices of general meetings unless they have given an address
in the United Kingdom to which such notices may be sent or, subject to and in accordance with the
Companies Act, an address to which notices may be sent in electronic form.
CREST
CREST is a paperless settlement system enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by a
certificate and transferred otherwise than by a written instrument. The Articles are consistent with
CREST membership and, amongst other things, allow for the holding and transfer of shares in
uncertificated form. The Articles contain other provisions in respect of transactions with the shares in
the Company in uncertificated form and generally provide for the modifications of certain provisions
of the Articles so that they can be applied to transactions with shares in the Company in
uncertificated form.
Indemnity of officers and insurance
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, but without prejudice to any indemnity to which he
might otherwise be entitled, every past or present Director (including an alternate Director) or officer
of the Company or a director or officer of an associated company (except the Auditors or the
auditors of an associated company) may at the discretion of the Board be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses, damages and liabilities incurred by
him for negligence, default, breach of duty, breach of trust or otherwise in relation to the affairs of
the Company or of an associated company, or in connection with the activities of the Company, or
of an associated company, as a trustee of an occupational pension scheme (as defined in section
235(6) Companies Act 2006). In addition the Board may purchase and maintain insurance at the
expense of the Company for the benefit of any such person indemnifying him against any liability or
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expenditure incurred by him for acts or omissions as a Director or officer of the Company (or of an
associated company).
Lien and forfeiture
The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share which is not fully paid for all
amounts payable to the Company (whether presently or not) in respect of that share to the extent
and in the circumstances permitted by the Companies Act. The Board may sell any share on which
the Company has a lien if a sum in respect of which the lien exists is presently payable and is not
paid within 14 clear days after notice has been sent to the holder of the share demanding payment
and stating that if the notice is not complied with the share may be sold.
The Board may from time to time make calls on members in respect of any money unpaid on their
shares, subject to the terms of allotment of the shares. Each member shall (subject to receiving at
least 14 clear days’ notice) pay to the Company the amount called on his shares. If a call or any
instalment of a call remains unpaid in whole or in part after it has become due and payable, the
Board may give the person from whom it is due not less than 14 clear days’ notice requiring payment
of the amount unpaid together with any interest which may have accrued and any costs, charges and
expenses incurred by the Company by reason of such non-payment. The notice shall name the place
where payment is to be made and shall state that if the notice is not complied with the shares in
respect of which the call was made will be liable to be forfeited.
Conversion provisions
The Articles do not contain any provisions relating to conversion of the Ordinary Shares.
The Company has 36,112,187 Ordinary shares allotted with aggregate nominal value of £361,121.87.
The shares have attached to them full voting, dividend and capital distribution (including on winding
up) rights. They do not confer any rights of redemption.
6.
Significant Shareholders
So far as the Directors are aware, the names of the persons other than the Directors who, directly or
indirectly, are at the date of this document, and who on Admission will be, interested in three per
cent. or more of the Issued Share Capital (‘Significant Shareholders’) are as follows:
As at the date of this document
Percentage of
Number of
Ordinary Share
Ordinary Shares
Capital
HKN, Inc (Concert Party)
Lyford Investments Enterprises Ltd (Concert Party)
Evansville (Concert Party)
Mikel Faulkner (Concert Party)
Barclays Wealth Mgmt (UK)
Hargreaves Landsdown Asst Mgmt
Thelese (Mr & Mrs D Worley)

12,804,768
9,202,026
176,612
370,000
1,240,361
1,181,444
1,090,542

35.5%
25.5%
0.5%
1.0%
3.43%
3.27%
3.02%

There are no differences between the voting rights of the existing Ordinary Shares held by the
Shareholders disclosed above and the voting rights of any other holder of existing Ordinary Shares.
Everest and Everest Vessel Holdings are affiliated companies of the Quasha family trusts which also
have an interest in Lyford, an existing shareholder in Global. Alan Quasha, the proposed seller of
Everest Vessel Holdings is a principal beneficiary of the Quasha family trusts. HKN Inc., the Group’s
principal shareholder, Lyford and the parties acting in concert with it are interested in 22,553,406
shares of the Group, representing 62.45 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company. Under
the AIM Rules for Companies, HKN together with its concert parties has been defined as a
substantial shareholder, being a person who holds any legal or beneficial interests directly or
indirectly in 10 per cent. or more of any class of AIM security. On Admission, HKN together with
its concert parties will hold in aggregate 62.45 per cent. of the Share Capital. HKN with parties in
concert may together exercise control over the Company due to having the voting power to have a
significant influence over all matters requiring Shareholder approval.
Other than the protection afforded to Shareholders under the Takeover Code (details of which are set
out in paragraph 19: Mandatory bids, Squeeze-out and Sell out Rules below), there are no controls in
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place to ensure that any Shareholder having a controlling interest in the Company does not abuse
that interest.
Save as set out in this document, the Company is not aware of any arrangements, the operation of
which may at a subsequent date result in an change in control of the Company.
7.
Share Plans
The principal provisions of the Share Option Scheme are summarised below:
(a)

Introduction
The Share Option Scheme has been adopted to provide employees, directors of and persons
providing services to the Group with an incentive to improve its future performance by granting
them options to acquire Ordinary Shares.

(b)

Administration of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee whose decision in
any dispute will be final.

(c)

Grant of options
The Remuneration Committee may grant options to such employees and directors of, and
persons providing services to, the Group as it may in its discretion select. Options may only be
granted in the period of six weeks commencing on the day following the occurrence of any of
the following events:
(i)

any amendment to the Share Option Scheme; or

(ii)

an announcement by the Company of its results for any period, or the issue by the
Company of a prospectus, listing particulars or similar document.

Options may also be granted outside those periods in exceptional circumstances if the
Remuneration Committee so decides. The Remuneration Committee may grant options subject
to performance conditions to be satisfied before the options may be exercised. Any performance
conditions set will be determined prior to grant. No payment is required for the grant of an
option.
(d)

Exercise price
The Remuneration Committee sets the exercise price of options before they are granted. The
exercise price of an option may be at, above or below market value. The Remuneration
Committee may, after the grant of an option, amend the exercise price if it sees fit.

(e)

Overall limit
The maximum number of Ordinary Shares issued or issuable on the exercise of options under
the Scheme, when added to the number of Ordinary Shares issued or issuable pursuant to rights
granted under any other share option or share incentive scheme operated by the Group, must
not during any period of 10 years, exceed 15 per cent. of the number of issued Ordinary Shares
from time to time.

(f)

Variation of share capital
The exercise price and the number of Ordinary Shares subject to an option may be adjusted to
reflect capitalisation or rights issues or reductions, sub-divisions, consolidations or any other
variation of the share capital of the Company in such manner as the Remuneration Committee
shall determine to be fair and reasonable.

(g)

Exercise of options
Subject to certain exceptions, and unless the Remuneration Committee imposes a different
vesting schedule at the time of grant, an option granted under the Share Option Scheme is not
exercisable until the first anniversary of grant at which point one-third of the Ordinary Shares
will vest and become exercisable with a further one-third of the Ordinary Shares vesting on each
of the second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. Options may, however, be exercised
early within 12 months of an optionholder ceasing employment because of injury, ill-health,
disability, retirement, redundancy or where the company or business in which the optionholder
is employed is transferred to a company outside the Group. If an optionholder dies, his
personal representatives may exercise his option during the period of one year following the date
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of death. If an optionholder ceases to be an employee or director of the Group, or ceases to
provide services to any member of the Group, for any other reason, his option will lapse unless
the Remuneration Committee in its absolute discretion decides otherwise.
Special provisions also allow early exercise in the event of a takeover, reconstruction or
winding-up of the Company.
No option may be exercised more than ten years after its date of grant.
(h)

Voting, dividend, transfer and other rights
Until options are exercised, optionholders have no voting or dividend rights in respect of the
Ordinary Shares covered by their options.
Ordinary Shares issued and allotted under the Share Option Scheme following the exercise of an
option will rank pari passu in all respects with the then existing shares of the same class of the
Company with the exception of rights attaching by reference to a record date on or before the
date of allotment. The Company will apply to the London Stock Exchange for Ordinary Shares
issued pursuant to the exercise of options to be admitted to trading on AIM.
Except in the case of an exercise by a deceased optionholder’s personal representatives, options
are non-transferable.
Benefits received under the Share Option Scheme will not affect the pension entitlement of any
participant.

(i)

Amendments
The Remuneration Committee may amend the Share Option Scheme at any time. Amendments
which adversely affect optionholders will require the consent of a majority of optionholders.

8.
Directors’ and Other Interests
The Directors have the following options:

Director
Mikel Faulkner

Number of
Ordinary Shares
subject to Options
1,890,000

Exercise price per share
Ranging from £0.50 to £1.511

Alan Henderson

150,000

Ranging from £0.70 to £2.65

David Quint

150,000

Ranging from £0.70 to £2.65

Zac Philips

50,000

£1.00

Expiration Period
February 2018 –
December 2019
February 2018 –
December 2019
February 2018 –
December 2019
April 2024

In addition to the options referred to above, the interests (all of which are or will be beneficial unless
otherwise stated) of each Director including any interest known to that Director or which could with
reasonable diligence be ascertained by him of any person connected with a Director within the
meaning of sections 252 to 255 of the Act (a ‘‘Connected Person’’) in the share capital of the
Company at the date of this document and as they will be immediately following Admission are as
follows:
At the date of this document
Number of
Percentage of
Ordinary Shares
Issued Share
held
Capital
Mikel Faulkner
Alan Henderson
David Quint
Zac Philips

370,000
14,527
135,000
4,872

1.0%
0.0%
0.3%
0.0%

On Admission
Number of
Percentage of
ordinary Shares
issued share
to be held
capital
370,000
14,527
135,000
4,872

1.0%
0.0%
0.3%
0.0%

The Ordinary Shares, comprising the Directors’ interests (all of which are beneficial) set out above,
will be held immediately following Admission, directly or indirectly by the Directors concerned.
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Save as disclosed in this paragraph 8, no Director nor any member of their respective immediate
families, nor any person connected with them within the meaning of section 253 of the Act, is
interested in any share capital of the Company.
No loan or guarantee has been granted or provided by the Group to any Director or any person
concerned with them.
Save as disclosed in this document none of the Directors has or has had any interest in transactions
effected by the Group since incorporation which are or were unusual in their nature or conditions or
which are or were significant to the business of the Group.
9.
Additional information on the Directors
The full names (and previous names, if any), ages, functions and dates of appointment of the
Directors are as follows:
Date of appointment
Name
Age
Functions in Company
as Director
Mikel Dean Faulkner
Alan Brodie Henderson
David Paul Quint
Dr Donald Zac Phillips

67
83
66
44

Chairman
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

14 January
14 January
14 January
1 February

2002
2002
2002
2014

The directorships and partnerships held by each of the Directors over the five years preceding the
date of this document other than in the Company are as follows:
Name
Mikel Dean Faulkner

Alan Brodie Henderson

David Paul Quint

Dr Donald Zac Phillips

Current Directorships and
Partnerships
HKN, Inc.
First Cash Financial Services, Inc.

Past Directorships and Partnerships
in past 5 years
Artic Star Alaska, Inc.
Britewater Mobile Processing, Inc.
Britewater International, Inc.
Britewater Oil Reclamation
Services, Inc.
HKN Bakken, Inc.
Unipure Energy Corp

North One Garden Centre Limited
Smart Matrix Limited
West Six Garden Centre Limited
Arundel AG

Aberdeen New Dawn Investment
Trust PLC
Public Service Property Investment
RP&C International, Inc
RP&C International Limited
RP&C International (Securities), Inc
USI Group Holdings AG

Oil & Gas Advisors Limited
OGA Trading Limited
Kairos Petroleum Limited

None

None of the Directors nor any persons connected with them are in a partnership nor have they been
partners in any partnerships in the five years preceding the date of this document.
None of the Directors has any unspent convictions relating to indictable offences, has been bankrupt
or has made or been the subject of any individual voluntary arrangement.
Save as described herein, none of the Directors has been a director of any company at the time of or
within twelve months preceding the date of its receivership, compulsory liquidation, creditors’
voluntary liquidation, administration, company voluntary arrangement or any composition or
arrangement with its creditors generally or any class of its creditors.
Save for below, none of the Directors has been a partner of any partnership at the time of or within
twelve months preceding the date of its compulsory liquidation, administration or partnership
voluntary arrangement or the receivership of any assets of such partnership nor have any of their
assets been the subject of receivership.
David Quint was a director of Benz Energy Inc. (‘‘Benz’’) from 1999 to September 2000. Benz filed
for United States bankruptcy protection in the fourth quarter of 2000. That protection was converted
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to a liquidation in late 2000 and Benz is now liquidated. The appointment of David Quint was made
to assist the flow of information to investors in a company already in serious financial difficulty.
None of the Directors has been criticised by any statutory or regulatory authority (including
recognised professional bodies) or been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a
company or from acting in the management of the affairs of the Company
10. Service agreements with and remuneration of the Directors
The principal terms of documentation governing the engagement of the Directors by global is set out
below:
Mikel Faulkner
On 7 March 2002, Mikel Faulkner entered into a letter of appointment pursuant to which he was
appointed to serve as Chief Executive Director and Chairman of the Company. Mr. Faulkner is not
entitled to a fee for holding office as a director but receives a fee of $245,000 for services provided in
his executive capacity and is eligible to participate in the Company’s Share Option Scheme and is
entitled to participate in any bonus or pension schemes or any other benefit in kind arrangements of
the Company. The notice period under the letter of appointment is 30 days.
Alan Henderson
On 18 March 2002, Alan Henderson entered into a letter of appointment pursuant to which he was
appointed to serve as a Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Henderson is entitled to a fee
of £40,000 as an annual retainer for such services and an additional payment of £5,000 for each
meeting (up to a maximum of four meetings during 2017) and is eligible to participate in the
Company Share Option Scheme but is not entitled to participate in any bonus or pension schemes or
any other benefit in kind arrangements of the Company. While serving as a Non-Executive Director,
Mr. Henderson is to be a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. The notice
period under the letter of appointment is 30 days.
David Quint
On 18 March 2002, David Quint entered into a letter of appointment pursuant to which he was
appointed to serve as a Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Quint is entitled to a fee of
£40,000 as an annual retainer for such services and an additional payment of £5,000 for each meeting
(up to a maximum of four meetings during 2017) and is eligible to participate in the Company Share
Option Scheme but is not entitled to participate in any bonus or pension schemes or any other
benefit in kind arrangements of the Company. While serving as a Non-Executive Director, Mr. Quint
is to be a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. The notice period under
the letter of appointment is 30 days.
Zac Phillips
On 1 February 2014, Zac Phillips entered into a letter of appointment pursuant to which he was
appointed to serve as a Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Phillips is entitled to a fee of
£40,000 as an annual retainer for such services and an additional payment of £5,000 for each meeting
(up to a maximum of four meetings during 2017) and is eligible to participate in the Company Share
Option Scheme but is not entitled to participate in any bonus or pension schemes or any other
benefit in kind arrangements of the Company. While serving as a Non-Executive Director, Mr.
Phillips is to be a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. The notice period
under the letter of appointment is 30 days.
No Director has entered into a service contract with the Company or any subsidiary of the Company
which provides for a benefit upon termination of employment.
11.

Transaction Agreements

Transaction A Agreement
Pursuant to the Transaction A Agreement, dated 16 January 2017 and made between the Company,
and Everest, Global has conditionally agreed to acquire the three Transaction A Vessels through the
acquisition from Everest of the shares of the companies which own them, in exchange for: (i)
forgiveness of $8 million of the outstanding principal amount of the Everest Loan Note; (ii) the
amendment of the terms of the Everest Loan Note to reduce the interest rate from 12 per cent. to
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8 per cent. and to extend the maturity date from 15 January 2017 to 15 September 2018 (the
Company has granted forbearance in respect of any payment default in the interim); and (iii)
contingent additional consideration equal to the lower of $5 million and 75 per cent. of the net cash
inflows attributable to the Transaction A Vessels for the period of eighteen months following
completion of their acquisition by the Company. Part of the existing collateral under the Everest
Loan Note, being Everest and its affiliates’ shareholdings in HKN will remain in place.
Completion is conditional (inter alia) on the Resolution being passed, Everest’s warranties remaining
true and accurate, all the Transaction A Vessels having been delivered to the docks of Hellenic Inc.
located at 2700 Bellview Front St, Berwick, Louisiana, 70342 USA and inspected to the satisfaction
of the Company, there having been no material adverse change in the assets to be acquired and
Admission. If the conditions precedent are not satisfied, or where permitted waived by the Company,
by 31 March 2017, or such later date as the parties may agree the agreement will terminate.
Warranties are given by both parties, and certain indemnities are given by Everest. The recovery
rights are subject to contractual limitations. In certain circumstances, including if claims are made
against any of the Transaction A Vessels which are not settled by Everest, the transaction could be
reversed with the Everest Loan Note obligations being reinstated.
Transaction B Agreement
The Transaction B Agreement is dated 16 January 2017 and made between Everest, Alan Quasha,
MCP and Caleura (together the ‘‘Sellers’’) and the Company,
Under the agreement:
In each case on and subject to the terms of the agreement:
(a)

MCP and Caleura have agreed on and subject to the terms of this agreement (i) to subscribe at
their nominal amount for A Loan Notes with an aggregate nominal amount of up to US$10
million in cash; and (ii) to transfer the Sale Shares (with Assetco owning the Transaction B
Assets on an unencumbered basis) to the Buyer in consideration for the issue of $4.6 million of
B Loan Notes and $10.4 million of C Loan Notes;

(b)

Everest has agreed to subscribe at their nominal amount for A Loan Notes with an aggregate
nominal amount of $500,000 in cash; and

(c)

Alan Quasha has agreed on and subject to the terms of this Agreement to transfer the Everest
Vessel Holdings shares (with Everest Vessel Holdings owning the Rider Barge on an
unencumbered basis) to the Company in consideration for the issue of $1.5 million of B Loan
Notes and $4.6 million of C Loan Notes to Alan Quasha.

Completion is conditional (inter alia) on the Resolution being passed, the Sellers’ respective warranties
remaining true and accurate, all the Transaction B Assets having been delivered to the docks of
Hellenic Inc. located at 2700 Bellview Front St, Berwick, Louisiana, 70342 USA and inspected to the
satisfaction of the Company, the foreclosure process having been concluded and the Transaction B
Assets having been transferred to Maritime Finance, there having been no material adverse change in
the assets to be acquired. If the conditions precedent are not satisfied, or where permitted waived by
the Company, by 31 March 2017, or such later date as the parties may agree the agreement will
terminate.
Warranties are given by all parties, and certain indemnities are given by the Sellers. The recovery
rights are subject to contractual limitations. In certain circumstances, including if claims are made
against any of the Transaction B Vessels or the Rider Barge which are not settled by the relevant
Seller, (a ‘‘DCM Vessel Trigger Event’’) the transaction could be reversed with Maritime Finance and
Everest Vessel Holdings reverting to the relevant Sellers, those Convertible Loan Notes which have
been issued as consideration being cancelled and the Company being released from the obligation to
issue further consideration Convertible Loan Notes.
If at any time following three years after completion of the agreement, Mikel Faulkner ceases to be
the Chairman of the Company, MCP shall, subject to no DCM Vessel Trigger Event having
occurred, be entitled to nominate a person, suitable for holding office in a publicly traded company
(and subject to the approval of the Buyer’s Nominated Adviser), to be appointed as a Director and
the Buyer shall take all reasonable steps to give effect to such nomination.
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12. Additional Material Contracts
The following additional contracts, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, have been entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries in the two
years immediately preceding the date of this document and are material or contain obligations or
entitlements which are material to the Group or are subsisting agreements which relate to the assets
and liabilities of the Group (notwithstanding that such agreements are: (i) within the ordinary course;
or, (ii) were entered into outside of the two years immediately preceding the date of this Agreement):
Financing note agreement with Everest Hill
On 15 September 2015, the Group and HKN (collectively as ‘‘Co-Lenders’’) entered into a secured,
short-term financing note agreement (‘‘Note Receivable’’) with Everest Hill Energy Group Ltd for the
principal amount of $10 million.
Under the Note Receivable, the Group participated as a Co-Lender by loaning $8 million and HKN
participated by loaning $2 million of the principal amount to Everest Hill. The Note Receivable is
secured by all of Everest Hill’s and its subsidiaries’ holdings of Global and HKN. Global served as
the collateral agent for the Co-Lenders. The Note Receivable is subject to an interest charge of 12 per
cent. per annum, payable monthly in arrears, with the principal amount being payable in full on
15 March 2016. Everest Hill paid to Global a 2 per cent transaction fee of $160,000 in September
2015 upon the closing of the Note Receivable.
On 29 February 2016, the Group and HKN amended the Note Receivable with Everest Hill. Under
the amendment, the Group loaned an additional $2 million principal amount to Everest Hill and
extended the maturity date six months to 15 September 2016. In addition, the Group was granted a
right of first refusal to purchase certain offshore oil service vessels owned by Everest Hill and its
affiliates. The Note Receivable continues to be subject to an interest charge of 12 per cent. per
annum, payable monthly in arrears. Everest Hill paid to Global a 2 per cent. transaction fee of
$40,000 upon the closing of the Amendment.
On 28 October 2016, the Company acquired HKN Inc.’s (‘‘HKN’’) rights of their outstanding
principal amount of $2 million for cash.
Transactions undertaken by members of the Enlarged Group (which are not also members of the Group) with
other relevant parties
The following additional contracts, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of
business of the members of the Enlarged Group (which are not also members of the Group), have
been entered into by Companies proposed to be members of the Enlarged Group in the two years
immediately preceding the date of this document and are material or contain obligations or
entitlements which are material to the Enlarged Group or are subsisting agreements which relate to
the assets and liabilities of the Enlarged Group (notwithstanding that such agreements are: (i) within
the ordinary course; or, (ii) were entered into outside of the two years immediately preceding the date
of this Agreement):
Each of NMS Viking Inc., NMS Star Inc., and NMS CD1 Inc. entered into a separate Memorandum
of Agreement in December 2016 under which it acquired the respective Transaction A Vessel which it
now owns for nominal consideration. Each such agreement included a warranty from the
counterparty that the relevant Transaction A Vessel is free from encumbrances, except for maritime
liens, and is not subject to administrative detentions, and an indemnity from the counterparty in
respect of claims made against the relevant Transaction A Vessel incurred prior to the time of
delivery.
Everest Vessel Holdings acquired the Rider Barge under an Asset Purchase Agreement dated
9 February 2016. The agreement provided for the Rider Barge to be sold on an ‘‘as is, where is’’
basis.
Maritime Finance entered into Transfer and Assignment Agreements with MCP (on 14 December
2016) and with Caluera (on 30 December 2017), under which Maritime Finance issued membership
interests to the respective counterparties in consideration for (inter alia) their separate assignment of
part of their MCP Loans to Maritime Finance. The membership interests issued pursuant to these
agreements comprise in aggregate 100 per. cent of the issued membership interests in Maritime
Finance.
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Agreements relating to the Admission:
The nominated adviser agreement with finnCap Ltd
The Company has entered into a nominated adviser agreement dated 25 April 2016 with finnCap,
pursuant to which the Company has appointed finnCap to act as nominated adviser to the Company
for the purpose of the AIM Rules for Companies with termination by either the Company or
finnCap giving not less than three month’s written notice any time following the first anniversary of
appointment. Under the agreement, the Company has agreed to pay finnCap a fee of £50,000 per
annum (plus VAT and expenses).
The Admission Agreement
On 16 January 2017 the Company, the Directors and finnCap entered into an admission agreement
pursuant to which finnCap, as the Company’s nominated adviser, has been granted certain powers
and authorities in connection with the application for Admission. Under the terms of the admission
agreement, the Company and the Directors have given certain customary warranties to finnCap and
the Company has given certain customary indemnities and undertakings to finnCap in connection
with Admission and other matters relating to the Enlarged Group and its affairs. FinnCap may
terminate the admission agreement in certain specified circumstances prior to Admission, principally if
any of the warranties has ceased to be true and accurate in any material respect or shall have become
misleading in any respect or in the event that the Company fails, in any material respect, to comply
with its obligations under the agreement. The liability of the Directors in respect of a breach of the
warranties given in the admission agreement is limited in time and amount. The admission agreement
is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of a number of conditions including (i) either the Transaction
A Agreement or the Transaction B Agreement having completed in accordance with its terms, save
for any condition therein relating to Admission or the admission agreement, (ii) the passing of the
Resolution, and (iii) Admission. Such conditions must be satisfied (or where possible, waived) by
9 February 2017 (or such later time as may be agreed by the Company and finnCap, being not later
than 28 February 2017).
13. Related Party Transactions
Details of related party transactions to which the Company has been party for the three year period
ended 31 December 2015 are contained in the financial statements and notes to accounts in the
audited annual report and account of the Group for each of the financial years ended 31 December
2015, 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.
Identity of related parties
The Company has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, with its Directors and with certain
other shareholders as stated in the Significant Shareholders section above.
Transactions with subsidiaries
None.
Transactions with Directors
None.
Transactions undertaken by the Group with other relevant parties
During 2015, the Company and HKN (collectively as ‘‘Co-Lenders’’) entered into a Note Receivable
with Everest for the principal amount of $10 million. Under the Note Receivable, the Company
participated as a Co-Lender by loaning $8.0 million and HKN participated by loaning $2.0 million of
the principal amount to Everest. Also during 2015, the Company entered into a Shared Services
Agreement with HKN to allow employees to provide or cause to be provided certain contract
services, if and when as needed. The Company paid $48,975 to HKN for contract services for due
diligence purposes during the year ended 31 December 2015. The Group received $32,070 from HKN
for contract services provided for the year ended 31 December 2016.
During 2014 and 2013, the Company held an Amortising Note Payable with HKN. The Amortising
Note Payable was fully repaid in December 2014. Also, in 2014, the Company entered into two
separate farm-out agreements with Everest with respect to the Bolivar and Bocachico Association
Contract areas. These farm-out agreements were terminated during December 2014.
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In March and May 2014, the Company entered into two separate farm-out agreements with Everest,
on behalf of its affiliated company, Magdalena Energy Management Inc. (‘‘Magdalena’’), to share
costs and risks associated with development and production activities in the Bolivar and Bocachico
contract areas in Colombia.
Under the Bolivar Agreement, Magdalena would have acquired, subject to Ecopetrol approvals, a
50 per cent. interest in the Contract Area (as defined in that agreement), including any and all rights,
obligations and duties in respect of the Contract Area, in exchange for payment of the work
commitments stipulated in the Bolivar Agreement and cash consideration of $5.0 million, net of fees,
which was paid in March 2014.
During 2014, the Company recorded the gross cash consideration of $5.0 million as a reduction of
the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment (applied as a recovery of prior costs), and the
fees for the farm-out of $2.1 million were capitalised reducing the overall increase to property, plant
and equipment to net cash received (after fees). Also during 2014, Magdalena funded the $6.2 million
of costs for the obligation under the work program for the re-entry of the Catalina #1 well, and the
Company did not recognise any related increase to property, plant and equipment in its consolidated
statement of financial position for these costs since these costs were fully funded by its partner.
Under the Bocachico Agreement, Magdalena would have acquired, subject to Ecopetrol approvals, a
50 per cent. interest in the Contract Area (as defined in that agreement), including any and all rights,
obligations and duties in respect of the Contract Area, in exchange for payment of the work
commitments stipulated in the Bocachico Agreement and cash consideration of $1.0 million, net of
fees, which was paid in May 2014. The work programme was governed by a joint-venture agreement
between the Group and Magdalena. During 2014, the Company recorded the gross cash consideration
of $1.0 million as a reduction of the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment (applied as a
recovery of prior costs), and the fees for the farm-out of $255,000 were capitalised reducing the
overall increase to property, plant and equipment to net cash received (after fees).
In December 2014, Everest elected to exercise its option under the farm-out and joint operating
agreements to terminate and release its rights and obligations with respect to the Company’s Bolivar
and Bocachico contract areas due to the significant fall of the price of oil. All obligations by Everest
to undertake the future funding of work programmes for the Bolivar and Bocachico contract areas,
including an obligation to pay all future costs and expenses incurred with response to the proposed
operations, were released with effect from 12 December 2014 in exchange for the return of the rights
for the 50 per cent. interest in the Company’s interest in each of the Bolivar and Bocachico contract
areas
On 29 February 2016, the Co-Lenders amended the Note Receivable (the ‘‘Amendment’’) with
Everest. Under the Amendment, the Group loaned an additional $2.0 million principal amount to
Everest and extended the maturity date six months to 15 September 2016. In addition, the Company
was granted right of first refusal to purchase certain offshore oil service vessels owned by Everest and
its affiliates. Everest paid to the Company a 2 per cent. transaction fee of $40,000 upon the closing of
the Amendment.
On 9 September 2016, the Company extended the maturity date of the amended Note Receivable by
thirty days to 15 October 2016. On 14 October 2016, the Company extended the maturity date thirty
days from 15 October 2016 to 15 November 2016. On 14 November 2016, the Company extended the
maturity date to 15 January 2017. The Company has granted forebearance over any default of nonpayment to allow Transaction A to proceed.
14. Litigation
Save for in connection with the foreclosure process described in paragraph 4 of Part I, no member of
the Enlarged Group has engaged in, nor is currently engaged in, any legal or arbitration proceedings
which have or may have a significant effect on the financial position of the Company and, so far as
the Directors are aware, there are no such proceedings pending or threatened against the Company or
any member of the Enlarged Group.
15. Employees
As at 30 June, 2016 being the date at the end of the period covered by the financial information set
out in Part III of this document, the Group as a whole had 16 employees. As at date of this
document the Group has 21 employees of which, 11 are employed in the United States, 9 are
employed in Colombia, South America and 1 is employed in the United Kingdom.
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Details of the number of employees over the last three financial periods by activity is set out below:

Technical and operations
Management and administrative
Total Group employees

US employees
Colombian employees
Total Group employees

2015

2014

2013

7
9
16

10
11
21

12
12
24

2015
6
10
16

2014
8
13
21

2013
9
15
24

16. Working Capital
In the opinion of the Directors, having made due and careful enquiry, the working capital available
to the Company and its subsidiaries will be sufficient for its present requirements, that is for at least
12 months from the date of Admission.
17. Significant change
Save as disclosed in Section 8, Part I and Part V of this document, there has been no significant
change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 30 June 2016, being the date to which
the financial information incorporated by reference in Part III has been drawn up.
18. United Kingdom Taxation
The following paragraphs are intended only as a general guide and are based on current legislation and
HMRC published practice, which is subject to change at any time (possibly with retrospective effect).
They are of a general nature and do not constitute tax advice and apply only to Shareholders who are
resident in the UK, who are the absolute beneficial owners of their Ordinary Shares and who hold their
Ordinary Shares as an investment. They do not address the position of certain classes of Shareholders
such as dealers in securities, persons who have acquired their Ordinary Shares by reason of any office or
employment, insurance companies or collective investment schemes.
If you are in any doubt as to your tax position or if you are subject to tax in a jurisdiction outside the
UK, you should consult an appropriate professional adviser without delay.
The Company
The Company
corporation tax
relevant double
current law this
2020.

is incorporated in England and Wales and so is automatically subject to UK
on its worldwide income and gains unless another territory makes a claim under a
taxation arrangement. The UK corporation tax rate is 20 per cent., but based on
rate will fall to 19 per cent. from 1 April 2017 and then to 17 per cent. from April

The Company is required to consider the controlled foreign companies provisions of Part 9A
Taxation (International and Other Provisions) Act 2010 in respect of its non-UK subsidiaries. In
certain circumstances these provisions can result in the Company being taxed on profits made by
controlled foreign companies.
The Company should not be taxable on dividends received provided that such dividends fall into one
of the exemptions provided by Part 9A of the Corporation Tax Act 2009, subject to anti-avoidance
provisions.
Taxation of dividends
Company
Under current UK tax legislation, no withholding tax will be deducted at source from dividends paid
by the Company.
Individuals
UK resident individual shareholders may, depending on their circumstances, be liable to UK income
tax in respect of dividends paid by the Company.
A UK resident individual will be entitled to an annual tax free dividend allowance of £5,000 of
dividend income. This means that there will be no income tax payable in respect of the first £5,000 of
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cash dividend income received, although such income would still counts towards the basic, higher and
additional rate thresholds. To the extent that dividend income exceeds £5,000 income tax will be
levied at the rate of 7.5 per cent. for basic rate taxpayers, 32.5 per cent. for higher rate taxpayers and
38.1 per cent. for additional rate taxpayers.
UK resident individual Shareholders should therefore seek the appropriate advice on how receiving
any dividends from the Company may impact their personal tax affairs.
Companies
A UK resident corporate Shareholder will be liable to UK corporation tax unless the dividend falls
within one of the exempt classes set out in Part 9A of the Corporation Tax Act 2009. It is
anticipated that dividends will fall within one of such exempt classes (subject to anti-avoidance rules
and provided all conditions are met).
If the conditions for exemption are not, or cease to be, satisfied, or such a Shareholder elects for an
otherwise exempt dividend to be taxable, the Shareholder will be subject to UK corporation tax on
dividends received from the Company at the rates already stated above.
Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax are advised to consult their independent
professional tax advisers to determine whether dividends received will be subject to UK corporation
tax.
Other shareholders
The annual tax free dividend allowance of £5,000 available to individuals will not be available to UK
resident trustees of a discretionary trust. From 6 April 2016, UK resident trustees of a discretionary
trust in receipt of dividends are liable to income tax at a rate of 38.1 per cent., which mirrors the
dividend additional rate.
Generally, non-UK residents will not be subject to any UK taxation in respect of UK dividend
income. Non-UK resident shareholders may be subject to tax on UK dividend income under any law
to which that person is subject outside the UK. Non-UK resident shareholders should consult their
own tax advisers with regard to their liability to taxation in respect of the cash dividend
Taxation of chargeable gains
Any gains on transfers or disposals of Ordinary Shares (including a disposal on a winding-up of the
Company) by UK resident Shareholders or Shareholders who carry on a trade in the UK through a
permanent establishment with which their investment in the Company is connected may, depending
on their circumstances, give rise to a liability to UK tax on capital gains.
Individuals
UK resident Shareholders who are individuals (or otherwise not within the charge to UK corporation
tax) and who are basic rate taxpayers are currently subject to tax on their chargeable gains at a flat
rate of 10 per cent. Individuals who are higher or additional rate taxpayers are currently subject to
tax on their chargeable gains at a flat rate of 20 per cent.
No indexation allowance will be available to such Shareholders but they may be entitled to an annual
exemption from capital gains to the extent this has not been used against other gains, and any other
tax reliefs available such as existing capital losses.
For trustees and personal representatives of deceased persons, capital gains tax on gains in excess of
the current annual exempt amount will be charged at a flat rate of 20 per cent.
Shareholders who are individuals and who are temporarily non-resident in the UK may, under antiavoidance legislation, still be liable to UK tax on any capital gain realised (subject to any available
exemption or relief).
Companies
Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax may be subject to corporation tax on
chargeable gains arising on a disposal of Ordinary Shares depending on the circumstances and subject
to any available exemption or relief. Indexation allowance may apply to reduce any chargeable gain
arising on disposal of the Ordinary Shares.
Corporation tax is charged on chargeable gains at the rate applicable to that company at the date of
disposal. Such tax would be applied at one the relevant corporation tax rates already stated above,
depending on the timing of the disposal.
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SDRT
The following comments are intended as a guide to the general UK stamp duty and SDRT position
and do not relate to person such as market markers, brokers, dealers, intermediaries and persons
connected with depository arrangements or clearance services to whom special rules apply.
No stamp duty or SDRT should be payable on the issue of Ordinary Shares
AIM qualifies as a recognised growth market for the purposes of the UK stamp duty and SDRT
legislation. Therefore, for so long as the Ordinary Shares are admitted to trading on AIM and are
not listed on any other market (and being admitted to trading on AIM will not constitute a listing
for these purposes) no charge to UK stamp duty or SDRT should arise on their subsequent transfer.
If the Ordinary Shares do not qualify for this exemption their transfer on sale will be subject to
stamp duty (ordinarily payable by the purchaser and generally at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the
consideration given subject to a de minimis limit) save in respect of shares held in a clearance service
or in a depositary receipt arrangement in respect of which other provisions may apply.
Shareholders and prospective investors should consult their own professional advisers on whether an
investment in an AIM security is suitable for them. Companies whose shares trade on AIM are
deemed to be unlisted for the purposes of certain areas of UK taxation.
19.

Mandatory bids, squeeze-out and sell-out rules

Mandatory bid
The Takeover Code applies to the Company. Under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, if:
(i)

a person acquires an interest in shares in the Company which, when taken together with shares
already held by him or persons acting in concert with him, carry 30 per cent. or more of the
voting rights in the Company; or

(ii)

a person who, together with persons acting in concert with him, is interested in not less than 30
per cent. and not more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights in the Company acquires
additional interests in shares which increase the percentage of shares carrying voting rights in
which that person is interested,

the acquiror and, depending on the circumstances, its concert parties, would be required (except with
the consent of the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers) to make a cash offer (or accompanied by a cash
alternative) for the outstanding shares in the Company at a price not less than the highest price paid
for any interests in the Shares by the acquiror or its concert parties during the previous 12 months.
Compulsory Acquisition
Under sections 974-991 of the Act, if an offeror acquires or contracts to acquire (pursuant to a
takeover offer) not less than 90 per cent. of the shares (in value and by voting rights) to which such
offer relates it may then compulsorily acquire the outstanding shares not assented to the offer.
In addition, pursuant to section 983 of the Act, if an offeror acquires or agrees to acquire not less
than 90 per cent. of the shares (in value and by voting rights) to which the offer relates, any holder
of shares to which the offer relates who has not accepted the offer may require the offeror to acquire
his shares on the same terms as the takeover offer.
20.
a.

General
The accounting reference date of the Company is 31 December.

b.

The Company commenced trading on 30 January 2002.

c.

The total costs, charges and expenses in connection with or incidental to Admission are
estimated to amount to £1.2 million including commissions (exclusive of VAT) and are payable
by the Company.

d.

The financial information contained in this document does not constitute statutory accounts
within the meaning of Section 434 of the Act and no financial information contained in this
document is intended by the Company to represent or constitute a forecast of profits by the
Company or any member of the Group.

e.

finnCap has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document
of its name and the references to it in the form and context in which they appear.
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f.

No persons (excluding professional advisers otherwise disclosed in this document and trade
suppliers) have received, directly or indirectly, from the Group within the 12 months preceding
this document nor have they entered into contractual arrangements to receive, directly or
indirectly, from the Company on or after Admission, fees totalling £10,000 or more, or securities
in the Company with a value of £10,000 or more calculated by reference to the expected
opening price of the Ordinary Shares on Admission, or any other benefit with a value of
£10,000 or more at the date of Admission

21. Documents Available for Inspection
Copies of this document will be available free of charge for inspection during normal business hours
on any weekday (weekends and public holidays excepted) until the date following one month after the
date of Admission at the registered office of the Company. In addition, copies of this document will
be available permanently in electronic form at www.globalenergyplc.com.
22. Third Party, Industry or General Information
This Document contains information extracted from third parties, industry or general publications.
These sources are believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information is
not guaranteed.
Where information has been sourced from a third party, the information has been accurately
reproduced and, as far as the Company and the Directors are aware and are able to ascertain from
information published by that third party, industry or general publications, no facts have been
omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
The Company takes responsibility for compiling and extracting, but has not independently verified
market data provided by third parties or industry or general publications and takes no further
responsibility for such data.
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PART VI
NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

Global Energy Development PLC
(the Company)
(Incorporated in England and Wales with Registered No. 4330608)

Notice of General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a General Meeting of the Company (Meeting) will be held at the
Company’s registered office at 3 More London Riverside, London SE1 2AQ at 9:00 a.m. (GMT) on
Wednesday, 8 February 2017 to consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a
special resolution:
THAT
(A) terms defined in the Circular and admission document issued by the Company dated 16 January
2017 of which this Notice of General Meeting forms part (the Admission Document), shall have
the same meaning when used in this Resolution;
(B)

the acquisition by the Company of:
(a)

all of the issued share capital of each of NMS Star Inc., NMS Viking Inc. and NMS CD1
Inc.; and/or

(b)

all of the issued share capital of Maritime Finance, LLC and Everest Vessel Holdings LLC

and the issue of the Convertible Loan Notes, in each case as described in the Admission
Document on the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Admission Document and
the Transaction Agreements, be and is hereby approved for all purposes, including, separately in
respect of each of paragraph (a) and paragraph (b) above, for the purposes of Rule 14 and
Rule 15 of the AIM Rules for Companies, regardless of whether the acquisition contemplated
by, on the one hand, paragraph (a), or, on the other hand, paragraph (b) is consummated or
not, and that the Directors (or a duly authorised committee of the Directors) be and are hereby
authorised to take all such steps as may be necessary, expedient or appropriate in relation
thereto and to carry out the same into effect with such modification, variations, revisions,
waivers or amendments (providing such modifications, variations, revisions, waivers or
amendments are not in the opinion of the Directors, or any such committee, of a material
nature) to such agreements or any documents relating thereto or as they shall deem necessary,
expedient or appropriate;
(C)

in substitution for all subsisting authorities to the extent unused, the Directors be and they are
hereby generally and unconditionally authorised, in accordance with section 551 of the
Companies Act 2006 (Act), to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot shares in the
Company and to grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares in the
Company up to an aggregate nominal amount of £484,988.69: (i) as to £329,706.28 in
connection with the issue of the Convertible Loan Notes and the issue of Conversion Shares; (ii)
as to £36,112.19 in connection with the grant of Options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
and the issue of Shares pursuant thereto; and (iii) as to £119,170.22 otherwise than for the
purposes specified in paragraph (i) and (ii) above.
The authority hereby conferred on the Directors shall expire at the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company after the date of the passing of this Resolution, save
that under this authority the Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement
which would or might require shares to be allotted or rights to subscribe for, or to convert any
security into, shares to be granted after such expiry and the Directors may allot shares or grant
rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares (as the case may be) in pursuance
of such an offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired;

(D) in substitution for all subsisting authorities to the extent unused, the Directors be and are
hereby authorised, in accordance with Section 570 and/or Section 571 (as applicable) of the Act,
to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot equity securities (within the meaning of
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Section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by paragraph (C) of this
Resolution as if Section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, for the following
purposes:
(i)

as to £329,706.28 in connection with the creation of the conversion rights pursuant to the
issue of the Convertible Loan Notes and the issue of Conversion Shares pursuant thereto;

(ii)

as to £36,112.19 in connection with the grant of options pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme and the issue of Shares pursuant thereto; and

(iii) as to £36,112.19 otherwise than for the purposes specified in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above.
The authority hereby conferred on the Directors shall expire on the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company save that the Company may before such expiry, make
an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such
expiry, and the Directors may allot and issue equity securities in pursuance of such offer or
agreement as if such authority had not expired; and
(E)

the name of the Company be changed to ‘‘Nautilus Marine Services PLC’’.

By order of the Board,
16 January 2017
Kristina Humphries
Company Secretary
Registered Office: 3 More London Riverside, London SE1 2AQ, UK

Notes:
1 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting may appoint one or more proxies to exercise all or any of the member’s rights
to attend, speak and vote at the meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. If a member appoints more than one
proxy to attend the Meeting, each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by the
member. If a member wishes to appoint more than one proxy and so requires additional proxy forms, the member should contact
the registrars’ helpline on 0371 664 0300 (calls cost 12p per minute plus network extras). If you are outside the United Kingdom,
please call +44 371 664 0300 (calls will be charged at the applicable international rate). We are open between 9.00 a.m. – 5.30 p.m.,
Monday to Friday excluding public holidays in England and Wales. You may also photocopy the Form of Proxy provided with
this Notice. Deposit of an instrument of proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting in
respect of which the proxy is appointed or at any adjournment thereof.
2 A Form of Proxy is provided with this Notice. Completion and return of such a proxy will not prevent a member from attending
the Meeting and voting in person.
3 To be effective, the Form of Proxy and any power of attorney or other authority under which it is signed (or a notarially certified
copy of such authority) must be returned to the Company’s registrars, either by hand, to: Capita Asset Services, The Registry,
PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU; or, by post, to: Capita Asset Services, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road,
Beckenham BR3 4TU, so as to be received by the Company’s registrars, not less than 48 hours (excluding weekends and public
holidays) before the time appointed for the Meeting or any adjournment of it. Completion and posting of the Form of Proxy will
not preclude shareholders from attending and voting at the Meeting should they wish to do so.
4 Pursuant to Regulation 41(1) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended), the Company has specified that only
those members registered on the register of members of the Company at the close of business on 6 February 2017 (the Specified
Time) (or, if the meeting is adjourned to a time more than 48 hours after the Specified Time, by close of business on the day which
is two days prior to the time of the adjourned meeting) shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting in respect of the number
of shares registered in their name at that time. If the meeting is adjourned to a time not more than 48 hours after the Specified
Time, that time will also apply for the purpose of determining the entitlement of members to attend and vote (and for the purposes
of determining the number of votes they may cast) at the adjourned meeting. Changes to the register of members after the relevant
deadline shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend and vote at the meeting.
5 CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for
the meeting and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members
or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer
to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.
6 In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a
CREST Proxy Instruction) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications
and must contain the information required for such instruction, as described in the CREST Manual (available via
www.euroclear.com/CREST). The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy, or is an
amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received
by the Company’s registrars (ID: RA10) by the latest time(s) for receipt of proxy appointments specified in Note 3 above. For this
purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp applied to the message by the CREST
Application Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by
CREST. After this time, any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the
appointee through other means.
7 CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that Euroclear UK &
Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and
limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST
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8
9
10

11
12

13

member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a
voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be
necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection,
CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those
sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings (www.euroclear.com/CREST).
The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended).
Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all of its
powers as a member provided that they do not do so in relation to the same shares.
If the Chairman, as a result of any proxy appointments, is given discretion as to how the votes the subject of those proxies are cast
and the voting rights in respect of those discretionary proxies, when added to the interests in the Company’s securities already held
by the Chairman, result in the Chairman holding such number of voting rights that he has a notifiable obligation under the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules, the Chairman will make the necessary notifications to the Company and the Financial
Conduct Authority. As a result, any member holding 3 per cent. or more of the voting rights in the Company who grants the
Chairman a discretionary proxy in respect of some or all of those voting rights and so would otherwise have a notification
obligation under the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules, need not make a separate notification to the Company and the
Financial Conduct Authority.
Any electronic address provided either in this Notice or in any related documents (including the Form of Proxy) may not be used
to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated.
As at 13 January 2017, being the last practicable date prior to the printing of this Notice, the Company’s issued share capital
consisted of 36,112,187 Ordinary Shares carrying one vote each. Therefore, the total number of voting rights in the Company as at
13 January 2017 are 36,112,187.
Copies of the service agreements and letters of appointment between the Company and its Directors will be available for
inspection at the registered office of the Company during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and Bank
Holidays excluded) until the date of the Meeting and also on the date and at the place of the Meeting from 9.30 a.m.
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